
NOTE TO PERSONS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS:
The Town of Canton does not discriminate on the basis of disability. Individuals who need auxiliary aids or an interpreter at a Town

meeting must notify the appropriate department in advance of the meeting as soon as they are able.

WORKING NOTES

AGENDA
Regular Meeting

Canton Planning and Zoning Commission
Wednesday, July 20, 2016 at 7:30 pm

Community Center, Room F
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT

CALL TO ORDER: Call to order the Regular Meeting of the Canton Planning and Zoning Commission,
July 20, 2016 at ____ PM

ROLL CALL:
Commissioners Present are: _________________.
Commissioners Absent are: _________________.

David Bondanza – Regular Member
Jonathan Thiesse – Regular Member
Phil Pane – Regular Member
Lans Perry – Regular Member
John Huyghebaert – Regular Member
*David Evens – Regular Member
**Kevin Baldwin – Regular Member
***Ryan O’Donnell – Alternate Member
Bill Sarmuk – Alternate Member
Vacant – Alternate Member

* members indicated they will be absent
** Kevin Baldwin is now a Regular Member
*** Ryan O’Donnell has been appointed as an Alternate Member

A quorum of the Commission is present?
(If a Regular Member is absent: “Mr. _______ is hereby seated for Mr. __________.”)

Modification of Agenda – No Requests

READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE:
The Secretary reads the legal notice

PUBLIC HEARINGS

1. File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2;
Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements; request to
construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and
Renata Maglietti, owners

___ Commissioners Seated
1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________, 4.______________, 5._____________,
6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated
a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom



2

The opening of this hearing was noticed for the June meeting. Required notices were not
submitted. The Commission postponed the opening of the hearing to the July meeting. Since then
the required notices were transmitted and evidence submitted. The hearing will open this
evening. The Commission has 35 days to close the hearing (August 26, 2016).

The proposed accessory structure is greater than the standard height maximum for accessory
structures (12’) which may be increased to as high as 50’ by special permit Section 3.4.G.3,
subject to the criteria of that section and the special permit criteria of Section 9.2.E. In
consideration of increases in height in areas that are outside of the minimum setback for principle
buildings, screening from adjacent properties and potential shadow effects are typically of
greatest concern. The proposed structure would be 21’ in height with at 3’ cupola, and would be
sited approximately 16’ from the side lot line.

This proposal recently went to the Canton ZBA for a side yard variance which was denied. The
structure was subsequently moved further away from the property line within the required
setbacks for accessory structures.

The location of the foundation relative to the private well was a concern. The FVHD reviewed the
proposal and issued approval on 7/6/16.

Motion for consideration:

Motion: to close the public hearing for File #448; Apln. #1601

A motion is made,
is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

2. File #447; Apln #1606; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1;
Special Permit, Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 square
foot house; Danielle and James Boros, applicant/owner

___ Commissioners Seated
1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________, 4.______________, 5._____________,
6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated
a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom

This application was submitted on June 20
th
, and will be received this evening. The application

was submitted with enough time to allow the hearing to open this evening. The Commission has
35 days to close the hearing (August 26, 2016).

The applicant proposed to construct a second single family home on the property under Section
3.3.D.1.b. The appropriateness of this use was reviewed by the Commission as part of an
informal review at the Commission’s April 20

th
meeting. The applicant is looking to build a

detached accessory dwelling, which would then become the primary dwelling. By doing so, the
current home, which is an existing non-confirming structure (setback encroachment and height),
would become the accessory dwelling. Prior to submitting a formal application, the Commission
recommended that staff contact the Town Attorney in order to seek his advice and provide
guidance to the applicant. This occurred and it was determined that the proposal was allowable
under Section 3.3.D.1.b.

The criteria of 3.3.D.1.b is rather specific:



3

i. The owner of the lot shall occupy either the principal dwelling unit or the accessory
dwelling unit;

ii. The lot shall conform to the lot area, lot shape and frontage requirements for a lot in that
Zoning District and the detached accessory dwelling unit shall be located on the same lot
with the primary dwelling unit to which it is accessory;

iii. The accessory dwelling unit shall not be billed separately from the principal dwelling unit
for utilities;

iv. No detached accessory dwelling unit shall be permitted in a basement or story below the
first floor unless more than 25% of the perimeter of the accessory dwelling unit opens to
grade and the ceiling is more than five (5) feet above that grade;

v. No detached accessory dwelling unit shall be permitted within any accessory buildings
that is located in the front yard or that does not meet the minimum yard requirements of
Section 3.4.E;

vi. When a detached accessory dwelling unit is proposed within a local historic district, the
building containing the detached accessory dwelling unit shall have received a Certificate
of Appropriateness from the Historic District Commission before being issued a zoning
permit; and

vii. There shall be approval by the Farmington Valley Health District, Canton WPCA, and or
Water Company, of adequate provision of water supply and sewage disposal.

Continued compliance with these criteria should be considered as a condition of approval if the
Commission is so inclined.

The Commission should determine if item “iii.” has been met. Two separate water services and
meters are proposed which could lead to two separate bills. The proposed structure shows no
electrical connection. The existing structure show no sewer/ septic service. Additional
clarification is necessary as it is possible both dwelling units could be separately billed.

Item “v.” was a initially a concern, however was confirmed by the Town Attorney that the change
of the existing structure from a primary to accessory dwelling under this section has no bearing
relative to the existing non-conforming condition.

Approval from the Canton WPCA has been submitted (July 12, 2016).

An e-mail communication from the Connecticut Water Company was received on July 13, 2016.

Comments from other Town Departments are currently being solicited.

The Commission should consider the Special Permit criteria of Section 9.2.E.

It is believed 39 Gildersleeve would be considered a rear lot, with a required minimum lot size of
0.75 acres, and thus no future division would be possible.

Motion for consideration:

Motion: to close the public hearing for File #447, Apln. #1606

OR

Motion: to continue the public hearing for File #447, Apln. #1606

A motion is made,
is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails



4

3. File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and
4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and playgrounds
including buildings allowed by special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit
standards; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 square foot concession
stand; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner

___ Commissioners Seated
1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________, 4.______________, 5._____________,
6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated
a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom

This application was submitted on June 22nd, and will be received this evening. The application
was submitted with enough time to allow the hearing to open this evening. The Commission has
35 days to close the hearing (August 26, 2016).

On March 6, 2013 a Site Plan was approved by the Commission) for the Track, Field, and
Parking Lot Improvements at 72 and76 Simonds Avenue.

As part of the development of that plan it was suggested that the approximate location of athletic
lights and their supporting mounts be included on the plan (in addition to a location of a press box
and “snack shack”). These were incorporated in the plans however the approval was specifically
conditioned by the Commission as follows:

“24. Nothing in this approval, in whole or in part, shall be considered to be approval of, or
the implied consent for, any possible future lighting of the track and athletic field or the
construction of any press box, future concession stands or any other structures without
additional review by the Zoning Commission in the form of a subsequent application;”

Mr. Carlson, representing the Canton BOE, is now formally proposing a concession stand. The
proposed location is identical to the location identified in the March 2016 site plan. This location
is in close proximity to the existing grandstand and has potential access to electric which will be
provided underground. This application requires the following approvals:

o Site Plan Section 9.1.A.1 - Modification to an Approved Site Plan
o Special Permit Section 6.4.E.10 – Enlargement of Special Permit Section

6.4.D.1.a Parks, recreation fields and playgrounds.

The applicant has been encouraged to confer with the Farmington Valley Health District regarding
requirements or concerns on the service of food.

The proposed concession stand will be in the form of a shed up to approximately 170 sf in size.
A sample image is included in the packet, but the final design will likely be determined after
approval as the acquisition/ construction of this structure will be done with volunteer efforts. The
applicant is seeking to attain a more complete representation of the intended structure by the
date of the meeting. The final details of construction will be reviewed by the Building Official and
Fire Marshal in regards to safety of occupancy and egress.

Motion for consideration:

Motion: to close the public hearing for File #336; Apln. #1610

OR

Motion: to continue the public hearing for File #336, Apln. #1610



5

A motion is made,
is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

REGULAR MEETING

PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS:

1. File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2;
Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements; request to
construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and
Renata Maglietti, owners

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion

Draft Motion:

Moved that the Commission hereby approves File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road;
Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception
for architectural building elements; request to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage that is
24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and Renata Maglietti, owners

This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated May 23, 2016; information received at a
public hearing commenced on July 20, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the
application:

Drawings:

1. Sheet 1; Survey & Site Plan for Proposed Garage; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Prepared by
Robert Hiza; Prepared for Mr. & Mrs. Maglietti; dated 3/17/16; revised 4/19/16

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #448; Apln #1601; 145
Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Special Permit, Section
3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements; request to construct a +/- 528
sq. ft. detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and Renata
Maglietti, owners

2. Copy of payment; check #1514
3. Special permit application checklist
4. Letter to the Planning and Zoning Commission from Peter Hiza explaining request; dated

5/22/16
5. Picture depicting the proposed garage
6. Signed certification of notice for the public hearing sign; dated 5/23/16
7. List of abutters
8. Map of abutters
9. Town of Canton legal notice
10. Proof of legal notice from the Valley Press
11. Email from Renee Narducci to Mrs. Maglietti regarding the need for abutter notices; dated

5/25/16
12. Sample abutter notice provided to applicant on 5/15/16



6

13. Packet of abutter information in placed in Land Use Office mailbox by Mrs. Maglietti on
6/21/16

14. Email communication between Neil Pade and Mrs. Maglietti regarding inefficient abutter
notification; dated 6/22/16

15. Abutter notice; dated 6/22/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/24/16
16. Certificate of mailings; dated 6/23/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/24/16
17. Draft PZC minutes from the 6/15/16 regular meeting
18. Application for Addition from the Farmington Valley Health District regarding 145 Cherry

brook Road, approved on 7/6/2016
19. Memorandum from Peter Hiza to Canton Planning and Zoning Commission regarding Special

Permit request, proposed garage; dated July 9, 2016
20. Email communication from Sharon and Chris Weakly regarding File #448 Apln #1601; dated

July 12, 2016

This approval with is granted because the Commission finds that the application, as conditioned
and modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would comply with the following:

1. Special Permit criteria of Section 9.2.E;
2. Special Permit criteria of Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements

This approval is effective August 9, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE
TOWN CLERK.

The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications,
restrictions, and safeguards:

1. A mylar recording IS/ IS NOT required;?
2. ?
3. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval (July 20, 2017)

shall void the special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations;
4. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months (July 20, 2019)

from the date of approval or the approval shall expire, in accordance with Section 9.2.H.3.
5. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

2. File #447; Apln #1606; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1;
Special Permit, Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 square
foot house; Danielle and James Boros, applicant/owner

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion

Draft Motion:

Moved that the Commission hereby approves File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road;
Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception
for architectural building elements; request to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage that is
24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and Renata Maglietti, owners

This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated June 20, 2016; information received at a



7

public hearing commenced on July 20, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the
application:

Drawings:

1. C-1.0; Site Plan; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James & Danielle Boros; Prepared by
Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16

2. C-2.0; Erosion & Sedimentation Control Plan; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James &
Danielle Boros; Prepared by Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16

3. C-3.0; Details; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James & Danielle Boros; Prepared by
Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16

4. SV-1; Improvement Location & Topographic Survey; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for
James & Danielle Boros; Prepared by Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #447; Apln #1606; 39
Gildersleeve Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1; Special Permit,
Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 square foot
house; Danielle and James Boros, applicant/owner

2. Special Permit Application checklist
3. Assessor’s card for 39 Gildersleeve Avenue
4. Abutter map
5. List of abutters
6. Copy of the abutter notice; received by the Land Use Office on 6/22/16
7. Signed certification of notice; dated 6/22/16
8. Proof of legal notice in the Valley Press
9. Copy of payment; check #1032
10. July 12, 2016 letter from Roger J. Ignazio Jr, Superintendent, Canton WPCA indicating

capacity review approval of 39 Gildersleeve Avenue
11. E-mail communication dated July 13, 2016 indicating available capacity from the Ct. Water

Company

This approval is granted because the Commission finds that the application, as conditioned and
modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would comply with the following:

1. Special Permit criteria , Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling
2. Special Permit criteria of Section 9.2.E

This approval is effective August 9, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE
TOWN CLERK.

The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications,
restrictions, and safeguards:

1. The above-referenced plans, as modified by these conditions, shall be placed on Mylar, bear
all the conditions of all land use commissions, and stamped “APPROVED” and signed by the
Planning and Zoning Commission (PZC) on a Town approved signature block. Said plans
shall be filed by the applicant with the Town Planner and Town Clerk by July 20, 2017,12
months from the date of approval; The applicant/ developer must provide one (1) fixed line
Mylar, and two (2) paper copies of each approved plan for signature by the Chairman and /or
Secretary. Maps to be filed on the land records of the Town Clerk must meet the following
standards:



8

Must be produced by 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic
polyester film, 3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen; the process used must be
certified by a stamp in red indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of producer and process
used. Polyester films (“Mylar”) must be matte on at least one side. Maps shall be 24” x 36”.

2. The owner of the lot shall occupy either the principal dwelling unit or the accessory dwelling
unit;

3. The detached accessory dwelling unit shall be located on the same lot with the primary
dwelling unit to which it is accessory;

4. The accessory dwelling unit shall not be billed separately from the principal dwelling unit for
utilities;

5. All necessary approvals and permits must be obtained from the Water Pollution Control
Authority including the execution of a signed agreement to connect to a sanitary sewer prior
to the commencement of any site activities or issuance of any building permits.

6. All necessary approvals and permits must be obtained from the Connecticut Water Company
prior to the commencement of any site activities or issuance of any building permits.

7. The developer shall be responsible for erosion and sedimentation control in accordance with
the approved plan; failure to adhere to the plans, or create any discharge of materials, shall
be considered a violation;

8. A Certificate of Occupancy (Certificates of Zoning Compliance) may be issued only after
evidence is submitted of separate billing of utilities;

9. A complete improvement location survey (as-built) plans are to be submitted to the Town;
10. All work in connection with the site plan shall be completed within five years after the

approval, or July 20, 2020 in accordance with Section 9.1.G.2 of the regulations;
11. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval (July 20, 2017)

shall void the special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations;
12. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months (July 20, 2019)

from the date of approval or the approval shall expire, in accordance with Section 9.2.H.3.
13. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

3. File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and
4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and playgrounds
including buildings allowed by special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit
standards; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 square foot concession
stand; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion

Draft Motion:

Moved that the Commission hereby approves File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and 76 Simonds
Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits,
Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and playgrounds including buildings allowed by
special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit standards; and Site Plan
Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 square foot concession stand; Dwight
Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner

This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated June 22, 2016; information received at a
public hearing commenced on July 13, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following



9

documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the
application:

Drawings:

1. LA; Site Plan – Layout; 72 & 76 Simonds Avenue; Prepared for Canton High School;
Prepared by Milone & MacBroom; dated 1/3/13

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and
76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 4820076; Zone MCPF;
Special Permits, Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and playgrounds including
buildings allowed by special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit
standards; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 square foot
concession stand; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner

2. Special Permit Application checklist
3. Narrative depicting the proposed scope of work
4. Assessor’s card for 72 Simonds Avenue
5. Assessor’s card for 76 Simonds Avenue
6. Abutter’s list for 72 Simonds Avenue
7. Abutter’s map for 72 Simonds Avenue
8. Abutter’s list for 76 Simonds Avenue
9. Abutter’s map for 76 Simonds Avenue
10. Signed certification of noticed; dated 6/24/16
11. Copy of the abutter noticed; dated 6/24/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/29/16
12. Proof of legal notice from the Valley Press
13. Proof of abutter notices; received by the Land Use Office on 7/12/16

This approval is granted because the Commission finds that the application, as conditioned and
modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would comply with the following:

1. Site Plan Section 9.1.A.1 - Modification to an Approved Site Plan
2. Special Permit Section 6.4.E.10 – Enlargement of Special Permit Section 6.4.D.1.a Parks,

recreation fields and playgrounds.

This approval is effective August 9, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE
TOWN CLERK.

The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications,
restrictions, and safeguards:

1. A mylar recording IS/ IS NOT required;?
2. This approval is subject to the review of the proposed structure by the Building Official and

Fire Marshal for compliance with life/safety codes;
3. This approval is subject to the review of the Farmington Valley Health District;
4. Any necessary subsequent modification resulting from #2 or #3 may be review and approved

by the ZEO;
5. The concession stand be constructed in the area identified on the above referenced site plan

and shall not exceed 170 sf in area.
6. All work in connection with the site plan shall be completed within five years after the

approval, or July 20, 2020 in accordance with Section 9.1.G.2 of the regulations;
7. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval (July 20, 2017)

shall void the special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations;



10

8. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months (July 20, 2019)
from the date of approval or the approval shall expire, in accordance with Section 9.2.H.3.

9. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

OLD BUSINESS:

None

NEW BUSINESS:

1. File #379; 8 Stonemeadow Lane, 110 Bunker Hill Road and 118 Bunker Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 10 &
11; Parcels 5000008, 1550110 & 1550118; Zone R-3; Lot Line Revision; Allan Johnson, applicant; Allan
Johnson & Nora Jamieson, owners

This is a proposed parcel consolidation, a modification of a previously approved subdivision.

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion?

Possible Motion: The Canton Planning and Zoning Commission does hereby APPROVE File
#379; 8 Stonemeadow Lane, 110 Bunker Hill Road and 118 Bunker Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 10
& 11; Parcels 5000008, 1550110 & 1550118; Zone R-3; Lot Line Revision; Allan Johnson,
applicant; Allan Johnson & Nora Jamieson, owners.

This approval is granted in accordance in accordance with the Application dated June 23, 2015.

This approval is also granted based on the following submitted with plan(s) entitled:

1. Compilation Plan; 8 Stonemeadow Lane; Prepared for Allan Johnson & Nora Jamieson;
Prepared by Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 6/16/16

In addition to the above-referenced plans, this approval is granted in accordance with the
following documentation submitted by the applicant, or otherwise submitted to the Commission:

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #379; 8 Stonemeadow Lane, 110
Bunker Hill Road and 118 Bunker Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 10 & 11; Parcels 5000008,
1550110 & 1550118; Zone R-3; Lot Line Revision; Allan Johnson, applicant; Allan Johnson &
Nora Jamieson, owners

2. Copy of payment; check #1998
3. Assessor’s card for 118 Bunker Hill Road
4. Assessor’s card for 110 Bunker Hill Road
5. Assessor’s card for 8 Stonemeadow Lane

This approval is effective upon the recording of the Mylar with the town clerk.

Must be produced by 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic
polyester film, 3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen; the process used must be
certified by a stamp in red indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of producer and process
used. Polyester films (“Mylar”) must be matte on at least one side. Maps shall be 24” x 36”.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions? Motion passes / fails



11

2. File #244; Apln #1609; 10 East Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 2430010; Zone MCPF; Site
Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to expand the current skate park; Josh Medeiros, applicant;
Town of Canton, owner

This is a Site Plan Modification to a previously approved Site Development Plan. A prior version of
this project was reviewed by the ZEO and determined not actionable as a minor modification and it is
therefore being provided to the Commission as a Site Plan Modification application. (The project has
since been scaled down and improvements made).

As a Site Plan application the Commission has 65 days to render a decision (September 23, 2016). A
public hearing is not required.

The proposal would increase the existing skate park by approximately 3,000 sf through the addition of
a concrete feature to be built into the hillside. It would expand it in the direction away from wetlands,
closer to the ball field, swing set, and sand court. A meeting was held on site with the Director of
Public Works, Project Administrator, Parks and Recreation Director, and ZEO to evaluate safety
concerns and conflicts within the general proximity. The new area is to be graded to drain to the
existing paved area of the existing skate park.

This proposal includes activity regulated by the Canton Inland Wetlands and Watercourses
Agency. A permit for this activity was approved on June 9, 2016

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion?

Draft Motion:

Moved that the Commission hereby approves File #244; Apln #1609; 10 East Hill Road;
Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 2430010; Zone MCPF; Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to
expand the current skate park; Josh Medeiros, applicant; Town of Canton, owner.

This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated June 22, 2016; information received at a
public hearing commenced on July 13, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the
application:

Drawings:

Sheet 1; Existing Layout; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016
Sheet 2; Proposed Addition; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016
Sheet 3; Erosion Control; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016
Sheet 4; Proposed Grading; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016
Sheet 5; Proposed Elevations; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016
Sheet 6; Proposed Dimensions; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #244; Apln #1609; 10 East
Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 2430010; Zone MCPF; Site Plan Modification, Section
9.1; request to expand the current skate park; Josh Medeiros, applicant; Town of Canton,
owner

2. Site Plan Application checklist
3. Copy of the IWWA approval letter for File #06-16-1134; dated 6/14/16



12

This approval is granted because the Commission finds that the application, as conditioned and
modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would comply with the following:

1. Site Plan Section 9.1.A.1 - Modification to an Approved Site Plan

This approval is effective August 9, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE
TOWN CLERK.

The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications,
restrictions, and safeguards:

1. A mylar recording IS/ IS NOT required;?
2. Erosion controls shall be installed and inspected by the ZEO prior to the commencement of

any site activities;
3. A pre-construction meeting shall be held with contractor doing the work and the ZEO and

Project Administrator prior to the commencement of any site activities;
4. All work in connection with the site plan shall be completed within five years after the

approval, or July 20, 2020 in accordance with Section 9.1.G.2 of the regulations;
5. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval (July 20, 2017)

shall void the special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations;
6. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months (July 20, 2019)

from the date of approval or the approval shall expire, in accordance with Section 9.2.H.3.
7. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

OTHER BUSINESS:

1. Review minutes from the June 15, 2016 Regular Meeting

2. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations

a. Review of draft language pertaining to Electronic Message Board Signs

Per last month’s instruction from the Commission, the ZEO has conducted the requested
research summarized in a memorandum which will be included in the meeting packet.

3. Discussion of Design Regulations

Special meeting on Use Table scheduled for July 27
th

4. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite

Meetings held with consultant on 7/12/16. Very productive. All comments and edits have been
relayed and improvements are being made on Subdivision Regulation draft. A final revised draft
is anticipated within 3 weeks. On Public Improvement Standards, the Project Administrator has
completed a survey of all town roads to ensure that pre-1990 reconstruction standards being
drafted will work with existing conditions. Next steps are for the consultant to update tables with
new information, make changes to the text previously submitted, and provide graphics/ details.

5. Discussion of possible update to the Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures

Changes being drafted, not yet completed.



13

6. Discussion of athletic field lighting at 76 Simonds Avenue

See April 5, 2016 memorandum to Town and BOE Leaders. An application is anticipated.

7. Staff Reports:

a. Town Planner’s Report

2nd Annual Report on POCD Implementation submitted to BOS is included in the meeting packet.

b. ZEO Report

Monthly Report to be distributed.

Minor Modification to an Approved Site Plan requested by Petals and Paws.

Complaints filed at 72 Lawton Road, ZEO seeking guidance.

ADJOURNMENT:



- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Special
Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements; request to construct a +/-
528 sq. ft. detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and Renata Maglietti,
owners

List as of July 13, 2016

Drawings:

1. Sheet 1; Survey & Site Plan for Proposed Garage; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Prepared by Robert Hiza;
Prepared for Mr. & Mrs. Maglietti; dated 3/17/16; revised 4/19/16

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry
Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height
exception for architectural building elements; request to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage
that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and Renata Maglietti, owners

2. Copy of payment; check #1514

3. Special permit application checklist

4. Letter to the Planning and Zoning Commission from Peter Hiza explaining request; dated 5/22/16

5. Picture depicting the proposed garage

6. Signed certification of notice for the public hearing sign; dated 5/23/16

7. List of abutters

8. Map of abutters

9. Town of Canton legal notice

10. Proof of legal notice from the Valley Press

11. Email from Renee Narducci to Mrs. Maglietti regarding the need for abutter notices; dated 5/25/16

12. Sample abutter notice provided to applicant on 5/15/16

13. Packet of abutter information placed in Land Use Office mailbox by Mrs. Maglietti on 6/21/16

14. Email communication between Neil Pade and Mrs. Maglietti regarding inefficient abutter notification;
dated 6/22/16

15. Abutter notice; dated 6/22/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/24/16

16. Certificate of mailings; dated 6/23/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/24/16

17. Draft PZC minutes from the 6/15/16 regular meeting

18. Farmington Valley Health District approval; received by fax on 7/6/16

19. Letter from Peter Hiza to the Planning and Zoning Commission; dated 7/9/16

20. Email to Renee Narducci from the Weakley household regarding their support of the application;
dated 7/12/16























































































- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #447; Apln #1606; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1; Special
Permit, Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 square foot house;
Danielle and James Boros, applicant/owner

List as of July 15, 2016

Drawings:

1. C-1.0; Site Plan; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James & Danielle Boros; Prepared by Hodge
Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16

2. C-2.0; Erosion & Sedimentation Control Plan; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James &
Danielle Boros; Prepared by Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16

3. C-3.0; Details; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James & Danielle Boros; Prepared by Hodge
Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16

4. SV-1; Improvement Location & Topographic Survey; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James &
Danielle Boros; Prepared by Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #447; Apln #1606; 39 Gildersleeve
Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1; Special Permit, Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached
accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 square foot house; Danielle and James Boros,
applicant/owner

2. Special Permit Application checklist

3. Assessor’s card for 39 Gildersleeve Avenue

4. Abutter map

5. List of abutters

6. Copy of the abutter notice; received by the Land Use Office on 6/22/16

7. Signed certification of notice; dated 6/22/16

8. Proof of legal notice in the Valley Press

9. Copy of payment; check #1032

10. WPCA capacity review application; dated 7/11/16

11. Letter from Roger Ignazio (WPCA) to Danielle Boros regarding adequate capacity to accommodate
the proposed home; dated 7/12/16

12. Email from Danielle Boros to Renee Narducci regarding the CT Water Company’s ability to provide
water; dated 7/13/16

13. Certified mailings; received by the Land Use Office on 7/13/16













































- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 4820076;
Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and playgrounds including
buildings allowed by special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit standards; and
Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 square foot concession stand; Dwight
Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner

List as of July 15, 2016

Drawings:

1. LA; Site Plan – Layout; 72 & 76 Simonds Avenue; Prepared for Canton High School; Prepared by
Milone & MacBroom; dated 1/3/13

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and 76
Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits,
Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and playgrounds including buildings allowed by special
permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit standards; and Site Plan Modification,
Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 square foot concession stand; Dwight Carlson, applicant;
Town of Canton, owner

2. Special Permit Application checklist

3. Narrative depicting the proposed scope of work

4. Assessor’s card for 72 Simonds Avenue

5. Assessor’s card for 76 Simonds Avenue

6. Abutter’s list for 72 Simonds Avenue

7. Abutter’s map for 72 Simonds Avenue

8. Abutter’s list for 76 Simonds Avenue

9. Abutter’s map for 76 Simonds Avenue

10. Signed certification of noticed; dated 6/24/16

11. Copy of the abutter noticed; dated 6/24/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/29/16

12. Proof of legal notice from the Valley Press

13. Proof of abutter notices; received by the Land Use Office on 7/12/16

14. Sample drawing of proposed concession stand











































Exhibit List for:

File #379; 8 Stonemeadow Lane, 110 Bunker Hill Road and 118 Bunker Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 10 & 11;
Parcels 5000008, 1550110 & 1550118; Zone R-3; Lot Line Revision; Allan Johnson, applicant; Allan Johnson
& Nora Jamieson, owners

List as of June 29, 2016

List of Drawings

1. Compilation Plan; 8 Stonemeadow Lane; Prepared for Allan Johnson & Nora Jamieson; Prepared by
Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 6/16/16

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #379; 8 Stonemeadow Lane, 110 Bunker Hill
Road and 118 Bunker Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 10 & 11; Parcels 5000008, 1550110 & 1550118; Zone
R-3; Lot Line Revision; Allan Johnson, applicant; Allan Johnson & Nora Jamieson, owners

2. Copy of payment; check #1998

3. Assessor’s card for 118 Bunker Hill Road

4. Assessor’s card for 110 Bunker Hill Road

5. Assessor’s card for 8 Stonemeadow Lane

























- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #244; Apln #1609; 10 East Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 2430010; Zone MCPF; Site Plan
Modification, Section 9.1; request to expand the current skate park; Josh Medeiros, applicant; Town of
Canton, owner

List as of July 15, 2016

Drawings:

1. Sheet 1; Existing Layout; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016

2. Sheet 2; Proposed Addition; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016

3. Sheet 3; Erosion Control; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016

4. Sheet 4; Proposed Grading; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016

5. Sheet 5; Proposed Elevations; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016

6. Sheet 6; Proposed Dimensions; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #244; Apln #1609; 10 East Hill
Road; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 2430010; Zone MCPF; Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request
to expand the current skate park; Josh Medeiros, applicant; Town of Canton, owner

2. Site Plan Application checklist

3. Copy of the IWWA approval letter for File #06-16-1134; dated 6/14/16

4. Memo from Joshua Medeiros to the Planning and Zoning Commission; dated 6/17/16



















































 

   
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Regular Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, June 15, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room F 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: The Regular Meeting of Canton Planning & Zoning Commission on June 15, 2016 
was called to order at 7:31 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: Jonathan Thiesse, David Evens, John Huyghebaert, Phil Pane, David Bondanza and 
Lansford Perry  
ABSENT: Bill Sarmuk, Kevin Baldwin and Keith August 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Planner Neil Pade and Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION OF AGENDA: None 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Pane. 
 
1. File #5; Apln #1582; 150 Torrington Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 5300150; Zone R-1; 

Section 7.4.D.3.a., Special Permit; exemptions and modifications to outdoor lighting, and 
Section 9.1., Site Plan Modification; request to install CCTV cameras, site lighting and security 
fencing; Metropolitan District Commission, applicant/owner – Mr. Chris Levesque of the MDC 
was present in order to discuss the application and answer any questions the Commission had. He 
provided an overview of the project, as well as the improvements that were made to date. During the 
hearing, a new drawing was distributed to the Commission that provided additional information 
regarding the photometric survey and placement of lighting. It was stated by the applicant that the 
height of the easterly light could be lowered to 20 feet if the documented foot-candles on neighboring 
properties were an issue. Mr. Levesque also discussed the wetlands approval that was received 
December 2014, along with approved generator work, which has yet to be completed.    
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to close the public hearing for File #5; Apln #1582. Mr. Pane seconded 
the motion, which passed unanimously 6-0-0. 
 

2. File #402; Apln #1587; 143+145 Main Street; Assessor’s Map 38; Parcels 3590143; Zone B; 
Special Permit, Section 6.1.E, uses allowed by Special Permit within the Collinsville Business 
Overlay District; and Section 9.1., Site Plan Modification; request to rehabilitate the existing 
building into a multi-unit dwelling; Russell Bush, applicant/owner – Mr. Russell Bush was 
present in order to discuss the application and answer any questions the Commission had. Mr. Bush 
provided a brief history on the property and discussed the original approval he received back in 2007. 
He is looking to utilize the same concept from the original approval, and has recently received a 
positive recommendation from the Collinsville Historic District Commission. Mr. Pade provided some 
input on the application and suggested that the Commission include the conditions from the 2007 
approval, should they approve the application. The Commission briefly discussed the parking 
situation, as well as comments that were received by the Project Administrator, George Wallace.  
 



Mr. Alan Weiner of 9-11 High Street, Collinsville, was present in order to speak in favor of the 
application and his desire to see the structure improved. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to close the public hearing for File #402; Apln #1587. Mr. Thiesse 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 6-0-0. 

 
Mr. Perry recused himself at 7:58 p.m. 
 
3. File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; 

Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements; request 
to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; 
Russell and Renata Maglietti, owners – Due to the absence of abutter notices, which are required 
as part of the public hearing process, the opening of the public hearing for this application had to be 
postponed until the July 20, 2016 regular meeting. Mr. Bondanza informed the applicant that proof of 
mailing the abutter notices shall be submitted to the Land Use Office within the required timeframe.  

 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to postpone the opening of the public hearing for File #448; Apln #1601 
to the next regular meeting on July 20, 2016 p.m. in Room F of the Community Center. Mr. Thiesse 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 5-0-0. 

 
Mr. Perry returned at 8:01 p.m. 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS:  
 
1. File #5; Apln #1582; 150 Torrington Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 5300150; Zone R-1; 

Section 7.4.D.3.a., Special Permit; exemptions and modifications to outdoor lighting, and 
Section 9.1., Site Plan Modification; request to install CCTV cameras, site lighting and security 
fencing; Metropolitan District Commission, applicant/owner – Mr. Evens suggested that the 
height of the easterly pole be lowered to 20 feet in order to remove the presence of foot-candles on 
neighboring properties.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved that the Commission hereby APPROVES File #5; Apln #1582; 150 
Torrington Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 5300150; Zone R-1; Section 7.4.D.3.a., Special 
Permit; exemptions and modifications to outdoor lighting, and Section 9.1., Site Plan Modification; 
request to install CCTV cameras, site lighting and security fencing; Metropolitan District Commission, 
applicant/owner. 

 
This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated March 21, 2016; information received at a 
public hearing commenced on May 18, 2016, continued to June 15, 2016 and closed on that date; 
and upon the following documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the 
proceedings on the application: 

 
Drawings: 

 
1. Sheet 1 of 5; Site Electrical & Data Infrastructure Improvements; Canton and New Hartford; 

Prepared by The Metropolitan District; Prepared for the Nepaug Dam & Collinsville Water 
Treatment Facility; Dated October 27, 2015 

2. Sheet 2 of 5; Site Electrical & Data Infrastructure Improvements; Canton and New Hartford; 
Prepared by The Metropolitan District; Prepared for the Nepaug Dam & Collinsville Water 
Treatment Facility; Dated October 27, 2015 

3. Sheet 3 of 5; Site Electrical & Data Infrastructure Improvements; Canton and New Hartford; 
Prepared by The Metropolitan District; Prepared for the Nepaug Dam & Collinsville Water 
Treatment Facility; Dated October 27, 2015 



4. Sheet 4 of 5; Site Electrical & Data Infrastructure Improvements; Canton and New Hartford; 
Prepared by The Metropolitan District; Prepared for the Nepaug Dam & Collinsville Water 
Treatment Facility; Dated October 27, 2015 

5. Sheet 5 of 5; Site Electrical & Data Infrastructure Improvements; Canton and New Hartford; 
Prepared by The Metropolitan District; Prepared for the Nepaug Dam & Collinsville Water 
Treatment Facility; Dated October 27, 2015 

 
Correspondence: 

 
1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #5; Apln #1582; 150 Torrington 

Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 5300150; Zone R-1; Section 9.1., Site Plan Modification; 
request to install CCTV cameras, site lighting and security fencing; Metropolitan District 
Commission, applicant/owner 

2. Site plan application checklist 
3. Email from Chris Levesque to Renee Narducci; dated 3/18/16 
4. Narrative 
5. HySecurity SlideDriver

TM  
Slide Gate Operator sales slick 

6. Chain link fence specifications; dated 5/28/03 
7. Hapco light pole specifications 
8. Lumark lighting specifications 
9. Lumark lighting images (2 total) 
10. Copy of approval letter for IWWA File #12-14-1118AA; dated 12/23/14 
11. Copy of payment; check #32022740 
12. Email from Neil Pade to Renee Narducci and Emily Anyzeski regarding application modifications; 

dated 4/6/16 
13. Email from Renee Narducci to Chris Levesque regarding application modifications; dated 4/8/16 
14. Email from Chris Levesque to Renee Narducci regarding lighting information; dated 4/18/16 
15. Cooper Lighting Photometric Survey; dated 4/18/16 (2 pages) 
16. Abutter list 
17. Sign affidavit; dated 4/22/16 
18. Copy of the abutter notice; dated 4/25/16 
19. Certificates of mailing 
20. Draft minutes from the 4/20/16 PZC regular meeting 
21. Town of Canton legal notice 
22. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant 
23. Municipal abutter notices (2 total) 
24. Email from Renee Narducci to Chris Levesque regarding requested additional information; 

5/10/16 
25. Copy of payment for special permit fee; check #32023159 
26. Email from Chris Levesque to Renee Narducci providing project overview; dated 5/18/16 
27. Email from Renee Narducci to Chris Levesque regarding Commissioner’s comments from the 

5/18/16 regular meeting; dated 5/31/16 
 

This approval with conditions and modifications is granted because the Commission finds that the 
application, as conditioned and modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would 
comply with the following: 

 
1. Special Permit criteria of Section 9.2.E; 
2. Special Permit for modifications to outdoor lighting Section 7.4.D.3.a 

 
This approval is effective July 5, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE RECORDING 
OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 



1. A Mylar recording is not required; 
2. The easterly light shall be reduced to 20 feet in height;   
3. All work in connection with this site plan shall be completed within five years after the approval, or 

June 15, 2020 in accordance with Section 9.1.G.2 of the regulations; 
4. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval shall void the 

special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations; 
5. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months from the date of 

approval or the approval shall expire; and 
6. This approval shall be binding upon the applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.  

  
SECONDED: By Mr. Evens. 
VOTE: Passed unanimously, 6-0-0. 
 

2. File #402; Apln #1587; 143+145 Main Street; Assessor’s Map 38; Parcels 3590143; Zone B; 
Special Permit, Section 6.1.E, uses allowed by Special Permit within the Collinsville Business 
Overlay District; and Section 9.1., Site Plan Modification; request to rehabilitate the existing 
building into a multi-unit dwelling; Russell Bush, applicant/owner  

 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved that the Commission hereby APPROVES File #402; Apln #1587; 143-
145 Main Street; Assessor’s Map 38; Parcels 3590143; Zone B/CBD; Special Permit, Section 6.1.E, 
uses allowed by Special Permit within the Collinsville Business Overlay District; and Section 9.1., Site 
Plan Modification; request to rehabilitate the existing building into a multi-unit dwelling; Russell Bush, 
applicant/owner. 
 
This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated April 1, 2016; information received at a public 
hearing commenced on June 15, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 

 
Drawings: 

 
1. Sheet #1; Schematic Site Plan; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush; Prepared by 

David Whitney Consulting Engineers, LLC; dated 8/6/07 
2. Drawing #1; Perspectives; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush 
3. Drawing #2; Elevations; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush 
4. Drawing #3; First Floor Plan; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush 
5. Drawing #4; Second Floor Plan; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush 
6. Drawing #5; Foundation Plan; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush 
7. Drawing #6; Section Thru Bedroom Wing; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush 
8. Drawing #7; Section Thru Living Room; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush 
9. Drawing #8; Details; 143-145 Main Street; Prepared for Russell Bush 
 
Correspondence: 

 
1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #402; Apln #1587; 143-145 

Main Street; Assessor’s Map 38; Parcels 3590143; Zone B/CBD; Special Permit, Section 6.1.E, 
uses allowed by Special Permit within the Collinsville Business Overlay District; and Section 9.1., 
Site Plan Modification; request to rehabilitate the existing building into a multi-unit dwelling; 
Russell Bush, applicant/owner 

2. Copy payment; check #1009 
3. Site Plan Application checklist 
4. Special Permit Application checklist 
5. Assessor’s card for 143-145 Main Street 
6. Abutter map 
7. List of abutters 



8. Letter from Russell Bush to the PZC regarding the proposed scope of work; dated 3/28/16 
9. Copy of letter from the CHDC to the Zoning Commission regarding the proposed scope of work; 

dated 8/13/07 
10. Copy of approval letter for File #402; Apln #1205; dated 11/15/07 
11. Copy of approval letter for extension request for File #402; Apln #1205; dated 10/20/08 
12. Email from Renee Narducci to Russell Bush regarding outstanding items; dated 4/11/16 
13. Copy of the abutter notice; received by the Land Use Office on 4/20/16 
14. Copy of certified mailing receipts 
15. Town of Canton WPCA Capacity Review Application; dated 4/20/16 
16. Letter from WPCA Superintendent Roger Ignazio to Russell Bush regarding future sewer connection; 

dated 4/25/16 
17. Draft minutes from the 4/20/16 PZC regular meeting 
18. Picture of the public hearing sign located on the property; received 5/3/16 
19. Signed public hearing affidavit; dated 5/5/16 
20. Signed certification of notice; dated 5/5/16 
21. Letter from the CHDC to the PZC stating their endorsement of the project; dated 5/16/16 
22. Copy of the CHDC application for a certificate of appropriateness; dated 4/20/16 
23. Renderings/photos depicting current appearance and proposed concept (8 total) 
24. Town of Canton legal notice 
25. Proof of legal notice from the Valley Press 
26. Application review comments from the Fire Marshal, Tim Tharau; dated 6/9/16 
27. Email from Neil Pade to Russell Bush regarding the PZC draft motion; dated 6/10/16 
28. Email from Project Administrator George Wallace regarding application review comments; dated 

6/15/16 
 

This approval with conditions and modifications is granted because the Commission finds that the 
application, as conditioned and modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would 
comply with the following: 

 
1. The special permit criteria of Section 9.2.E; and 
2. The standards of the Collinsville Business District Overlay, Section 6.1 

 
This approval is effective July 5, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE RECORDING OF 
AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. A Mylar recording is not required; 
2. The conditions of the Commission’s October 17, 2007 approval on this matter are incorporated by 

reference except as may be modified by this approval; 
3. The recommendations of the Collinsville Historic District made on Advisory Application #16-03 on 

May 10, 2016 are incorporated by reference; 
4. The applicant shall relocate the exterior utility meters (electric and gas) from underneath the stairwell 

serving second floor ingress/egress; 
5. The applicant shall demonstrate availability of potable water prior to the issuance of building permits; 
6. All work in connection with this site plan shall be completed within five years after the approval, or 

June 15, 2020 in accordance with Section 9.1.G.2 of the regulations; 
7. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval shall void the special 

permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations; 
8. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months from the date of 

approval or the approval shall expire; and  
9. This approval shall be binding upon the applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.  

  
SECONDED: By Mr. Evens. 
VOTE: Passed unanimously, 6-0-0. 



3. File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; 
Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements; request 
to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; 
Russell and Renata Maglietti, owners – No action was taken. 
 

OLD BUSINESS: None 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
 
1. Pre-Application Review; File #449; Apln #1602; 79 Dowd Avenue; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 

2160079; Zone R-2; discussion of development concepts for a town dog park; Alan Duncan, 
applicant; Canton Land Conservation Trust, Inc., owner – Mr. Alan Duncan was present in order 
to discuss the pre-application, as well as answer any questions the agency had. The intent of the 
discussion was in order to provide an overview of the proposed dog park, as well as receive 
feedback/guidance from the commission on how to proceed. Based on the proposed concept, the 
arena portion of the park would be 100ft x 200ft in size and be surrounded by 5ft chain-link fencing. 
The parking lot will be 60ft x 90ft, with the driveway being 18ft by 100ft. In order to establish an 
entrance to the site, a curb cut is necessary on Commerce Drive. The property will continue to be 
owned by the Canton Land Conservation Trust, while the Friends of the Canton Dog Park, a non-
profit, will finance and operate the dog park. In terms of zoning, a zone change would be necessary 
prior to the submission of a Site Plan application. At this time, in order to move forward with the 
proposed concept and before formalizing any plans, a Soil Scientist is needed in order to flag the 
wetlands on the property. 
 

2. File #22; Apln #1605; 211 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010211; Zone B; 
Special Permit, Section 4.1.c.11.a, off-street parking beyond the limitations of Section 
4.1.b.7.d; request to designate 56 parking spaces for lease to a car dealership for parking; 
Fred Gabrielle, applicant; 211 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner – This application was received by 
the Land Use Office on June 1, 2016, which did not allow adequate time for scheduling of a public 
hearing. Mr. Pade informed the Commission that the applicant has submitted an application to the 
IWWA, which was received at the June 9, 2016 and will be discussed at their next regular meeting on 
July 14, 2016. In order to conserve statutory time on the application, it was suggested that the 
opening of the public hearing be postponed. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Bondanza moved to receive the application as presented and schedule a public 
hearing for the August 17, 2016 regular meeting. Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed 
unanimously 6-0-0. 

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Review minutes from the May 18, 2016 regular meeting – The minutes were approved as 

presented.   
 

2. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations 
a. Review of draft language pertaining to Electronic Message Board Signs – Draft language 

regarding electronic message board (EMB) signage was provided as part of the Commission’s 
meeting packet. After some deliberation, it was determined that a separate definition for EMBs 
would need to be developed. Mr. Pade discussed some additional edits and the Commission 
questioned the idea of possibly limiting the hours of operation. The Commission requested that 
staff reach out to neighboring towns and land use personnel through the UConn List Serve in 
order to find model regulations, objections, etc., which would assist in developing the most ideal 
regulations for the town. Mr. Pade also provided the Commission with possible amendments 
pertaining to open signs in downtown Collinsville. 
 



3. Discussion of Design Regulations 
a. Review of Use Table – A Special Meeting will be scheduled in order to review and finalize the 

draft use table; date and location to be determined. 
 

4. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite – Mr. Pade stated that he submitted the final 
comments and changes to the consultant, and provided a brief overview of said comments to the 
Commission.  
 

5. Discussion of possible update to the Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures – Mr. Pade 
provided an overview of potential changes to the Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures based on 
feedback from the Town Attorney, as well as their recent presentation at the June 1, 2016 CAZEO 
meeting.  

 
6. Discussion of complaint on wood milling at the Axe Factory – Mr. Pade provided an overview of 

the recently received complaint pertaining to wood milling at the Axe Factory. Upon reviewing the 
Industrial Heritage District Regulations, the Commission agreed that wood milling is a permitted 
activity within the Collins Company Complex.   

 
7. Discussion of relocation of the Collinsville Streetscape benches – Mr. Pade informed the 

Commission that the Collinsville Historic District Commission recently submitted a positive 
recommendation for the relocation of the Collinsville Streetscape benches. At this time, Mr. Pade is 
working with DPW in order to schedule the placement of the benches.  

 
8. Staff Reports: 

a. Town Planner’s Report – Mr. Pade provided an overview of the upcoming application regarding 
the skate park at 10 East Hill Road (Mills Pond). The Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency 
recently approved the proposed skate park expansion at their last regular meeting on Thursday, 
June 9, 2016. It is the intention of the Parks and Recreation Department to submit the application 
in time for the July 20, 2016 regular meeting.  
 

b. ZEO Report – The ZEO Report was distributed to the Commission prior to the start of the 
meeting. 

 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:37 p.m. Mr. Huyghebaert seconded the motion, 
which passed unanimously.  
 
 



 

    

 TOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTON    

    LAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICE E E E  
 4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 

1 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

To: Leslee Hill, First Selectman 

 Julie Ausere, Board of Education Chair  

 Robert Skinner, Chief Administrative Officer 

 Kevin Case, Superintendent of Schools 

  

CC: Emily Anyzeski, Assistant Planner, ZEO, IWWA Agent 

 

From: Neil S. Pade AICP, Town Planner 

 

Re: Athletic Field Lighting, Procedural Requirements 

  

Date: April 5, 2016 

 

 

Background 

 

On March 6, 2013 a Site Plan was approved by the Zoning Commission (Commission) for the 

Track, Field, and Parking Lot Improvements at 72 and76 Simonds Avenue. 

 

As part of the development and review of this plan it was suggested by staff that the approximate 

location of athletic lights and their supporting mounts be included on the plan (in addition to a 

location of a press box and “snack shack”).  The approval, however, was conditioned by the 

Commission as follows: 

“ 24. Nothing in this approval, in whole or in part, shall be considered to be approval of, 

or the implied consent for, any possible future lighting of the track and athletic field or 

the construction of any press box, future concession stands or any other structures 

without additional review by the Zoning Commission in the form of a subsequent 

application;” 

 

Staff Comments 

 

The installation of such lighting should be supported by the Town Boards, Board of Education 

(BOE), Board of Selectman (BOS), and Board of Finance (BOF), as applicable. 

 

A cost estimate should be prepared detailing costs to purchase and install lighting, including the 

costs to develop plans and details for land use and life safety permitting reviews.  The 

management of costs and expenditures relative to the timing of permitting and fund raising need 

to be discussed. 



2 

Land Use and Building Department applications require authorization by the First Selectman, 

possibly requiring discussion and action of BOS. 

 

Land Use Application 

An application to the Commission would be processed under the following regulatory sections: 

o Site Plan Section 9.1.A.1 - Modification to an Approved Site Plan  

o Special Permit Section 6.4.E.10 – Enlargement of Special Permit Section 

6.4.D.1.a Parks, recreation fields and playgrounds.  

o Special Permit Section 7.4.D.3.f – Lighting necessary for outdoor events and 

playing fields. 

 

Land Use Submission 

 

A completed application form and checklist is required. 

 

An update to approved plan is necessary demonstrating the proposed changes, including 

engineered details (where appropriate): 

o Poles including mounting, height details and fall clearances; 

o Footings and their final location on the ground (footing details are included in 

2013 plan) 

o Light fixtures, “cut sheets” for luminaries 

o Aiming diagrams 

o Pre-construction and post construction photometric survey’s indicating foot-

candle measurements of the affected areas; 

o Alternate configurations of orientations and photometric data if desired; 

o Information addressing anticipated concerns of sky glow, light trespass and 

glare; and 

o Any additional information necessary to demonstrate changes to the approved 

plan. 

 

Notices to owners of property within 100’ of the boundaries of 72 and76 Simonds Avenue and a 

public hearing will be required. 

 

Some information may be requested on operational procedures.  A narrative should accompany 

the application detailing approximate/ anticipated occurrences of usage, durations, and limits of 

such events.  The Commission needs sufficient information to understand and evaluate the full 

implications of what would occur if the application is approved.   

 

Building Application 

 

Life/Safety Code Review for Building and Fire Marshal Departments: 

• Electrical permit, details on wiring, cables, trenches, and conduit 

• Design Professional; Electrical Engineer 

• Structural review (Manufacturer installation specifications) 

• Construction details 



C

Courant Community / Canton

Permanent Lights Considered For Canton High
School Playing Field

By Ken Byron • Contact Reporter

JUNE 15, 2016, 4:35 PM

ANTON — Fundraising to purchase and install permanent lights for the synthetic turf playing field at

Canton High School may start in the fall with the hope that the lights are in place by the fall of 2017.

Organizers outlined their plans to the board of education Tuesday. The board approved forming the proposed

fundraising group but officials said it would have to work closely with school and town staff on the effort.

Superintendent Kevin Case said the planning and zoning commission would have to approve the lights, and he

wants any fundraising to wait until that process is started. Case told the board he plans to speak with the

commission when it meets in July and also wants to formally notify the board of selectmen of the project.

Right now, portable lights are used on the rare occasions when night games are played at the high school.

Kimberly Marze, one of the organizers, said fundraisers would not happen until the fall. She said now is an

opportune time to raise money for the lights in part because ambitious fundraising efforts that funded other

school projects are done.

"The community is jazzed and enthusiastic about this and we can ride that wave into next year," Marze said.

She said the intent is to collaborate with youth sports groups in town and other schools on the effort. The

Canton Athletic Booster Club is helping to get the fundraising started.

Case said school officials need to get an updated cost estimate for the lights. An estimate done three years ago

put the price at $250,000 to $300,000, he said.

The turf field was completed in 2013 but amenities like a scoreboard, bleachers and the lights were not included

in the original project as a costsaving measure. The town added the scoreboard in 2014 and fundraising in the

community helped pay for bleachers later in the year.

Other plans for school sports were also presented to the board on Tuesday, including a $5,704 donation from

the booster club for a concession stand at the high school's playing field. The board accepted the contribution

and Case said he will work on getting the necessary town permits for the stand during the summer so it can be

installed by the fall.

Copyright © 2016, Courant Community

http://www.courant.com/community/#nt=breadcrumb
http://www.courant.com/community/canton/#nt=breadcrumb
http://www.courant.com/hc-bio-ken-byron-staff.html#nt=byline
mailto:kbyron@courant.com?subject=Regarding:%20%22Permanent%20Lights%20Considered%20For%20Canton%20High%20School%20Playing%20Field%22
http://www.courant.com/


 

    

 TOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTON    

    LAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICE E E E  
 4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 

1 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

 

To: Board of Selectman 

 

From: Neil S. Pade AICP, Town Planner on behalf of the Plan Implementation Committee 

 

Re: 2016 Annual Report of the 2014-2024 Plan of Conservation and Development 

  

Date: June 16, 2016 

 

 

In May 2014 the Canton 2014-2024 Plan of Conservation and Development (POCD) was 

adopted.  An annual review of the POCD with elected officials was included as an ongoing 

priority to review implementation, status, and issues.  A Plan Implementation Committee (PIC) 

was formed by the Board of Selectman (BOS) for this purpose.  The first annual report was 

issued to the BOS in July 2015.   

 

In the past year, the PIC met routinely, reached out to all boards, commissions and staff (Lead 

Agencies) reminding them of Implementation Measures under their responsibility, interviewed 

commissions, town department heads, and documented progress.  

 

Please find attached a yearly progress report on the implementation of the POCD. 

 

Summary: 

Implementation Measures recommended by the POCD were assigned a Priority indicating the 

general level of importance for each Measure.  Priorities were assigned approximate time lines 

for their action as follows: 

Priority A: 0-4 years 

Priority B: 2-7 years 

Priority C: 4-10 years 

Priority O: Ongoing 

Priority G: Goal/ General Principal 

 

Progress for gauging implementation is presented in two parts. The first, under the “Status” 

heading, provides a status of the overall progress. The second, under the “Yearly Progress” 

heading, identifies if progress was realized in the reporting year. 

 

 

  



2 

 

Status is reported using the following key: 

NI = Not Initiated 

D = Development stage for the strategy/ task 

P = Progress toward the strategy/ task 

H = on Hold – initiated, but no progress  

S = Successful implementation  

U = Unsuccessful implementation 

n/a = Not applicable – measure used for G and O priorities 

 

As can be seen in the attached report entitled “FY 2014-2015 Yearly Progress Report”, of the 

136 Implementation Measure ranked with an A, B, or C Priority, 103, 76% (93, 68%)  report 

yearly progress.  (Items within “( )” represent last year’s reporting) 
  

Of the 136 ranked Implementation Measures: 

18 (5) report successful implementation 13% (4%); 

79 (68) identify Progress (P) being made 58% (50%); 

18 (25) report being in the Development stage (D) 13% (18%); 

16 (33) report Not being Initiated (NI) 20% (24%);  

3 (5) are on Hold 2% (4%); and 

2 report being Unsuccessful (3%). 

  

When focusing on the 49 Priority A Measures (0-4 years): 

11 (4) report successful implementation (I1, F11, CC12; A6; A8; ED8, ED30, ED36, 

ED60, ED62, U11) (22%) (8%); 

29 (36) identify Progress (P) being made (59%) (74%); 

4 (5) report being in the Development stage (D) (8%) (10%);  

 3 (4) report Not being Initiated (NI) (6%) (8%); and 

 2 report being on Hold (H) (4%) 

 

When focusing on the 71 Priority B Measures (2-7 years): 

7 report successful implementation (NR6, A5, ED33, ED47, ED56, ED63, U10) (10%);  

42 identify Progress (P) being made (59%)  

10 report being in the Development stage (D) (14%)  

 9 report Not being Initiated (NI) (13%) 

 1 report being on Hold (H) (1%) 

 2 report being unsuccessful (OS15, F9) (3%) 

 

When focusing on the 16 Priority C Measures (4 - 10 years): 

8 identify Progress (P) being made (50%)  

4 report being in the Development stage (D) (25%)  

 4 report Not being Initiated (NI) (25%) 

 

  



3 

 

The following items are called out as requiring additional discussion, and possible consideration 

of amendments to the current Plan: 

 

1 – Items marked as “unsuccessful” above. 

2 – Items identified in the attached tables. 

  

The PIC is pleased to issue this positive report and with the efforts taken by both appointed and 

elected boards, community volunteers, and town staff in the implementation of the 2014-2024 

POCD.   



 

    

 TOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTON    

    LAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICE E E E  
 4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 

4 

 

BOS 

B ED57 Consolidate land use boards only after adopting standards and practices that improve 

the efficiency of internal and external processes. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

08-Jun-2016: OSPAC consolidated into Conservation Commission; OS objectives 

not abandoned. 

P Yes BOS EDA, PZC, 

Town, CoC 

B F23 Recapture the riverfront presently occupied by the DPW Garage to increase public 

access and recreation. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on update of POCD. 

D Yes BOS BOF, PRC, 

PMBC, PZC, 

IWWA, 

WPCA, 

Town, 

FRWC, RES 

B F9 Relocate the garage to a site away from the Farmington River.   

   a. Acquire land and construct a facility adequate to house the Public Works 

Department. 

   b. Repurpose the existing site for public recreation and river access, which are 

identified open space, natural resource and community character goals in this plan. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

11-May-2016: Acquisition of land unsuccessful. Redevelopment of existing site 

being explored. Recreational opportunities being considered as part of on-site 

redevelopment. 

U Yes BOS PMBC, 

BOF, PW, 

PZC, RES 



5 

 

G T14 Encourage the extension of the CT Fastrak feeder system to Canton.  

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on update of POCD. 

n/a No BOS Town, 

CTDOT, 

CRCOG, 

CoC 

O U9 Work with the Canton WPCA, authorities serving adjacent towns, land owners, and 

developers to extend public sanitary sewer service to all parcels in commercial zones, 

opportunity locations and potential mixed use sites. 

 ---------------------------------  

08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on update of POCD. 

n/a Yes BOS WPCA, 

BOF, PZC, 

PIC, CoC, 

PO 

 

  



6 

 

CC 

C CC30 Pursue additional scenic road designations as indicated on the Character Resources 

map on page 13 of the 'Strategic Component'. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

09-Jun-2016: CC felt this was more of a BOS issue; marked for discussion on next 

POCD update. 

NI No CC BOS, PZC 

G CC7 Keep the natural environment a prominent part of Canton's landscape. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 09-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on next POCD update. 

n/a n/a CC ALL 

B NR22 Use public education programs (promote and extend DEEP education efforts) 

regarding: 

   a. Use of pesticides and herbicides – damage to environment, organic options, avoid 

excessive use. 

   b. Invasive species. 

   c. Proper tree and forest management 

   d. Dumping (including leaves) into storm drainage systems and water-courses 

   e. Vehicle washing or maintenance where associated runoff waters may reach 

watercourses untreated. 

f. Other discharges to or diversions from watercourses, which are (or may be) harmful 

to those waters. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

09-Jun-2016: CC has indicated a lack of interest in pursuing public education 

initiatives. 

NI No CC IWWA, 

Town, BOE 



7 

 

A OS12 Build and maintain an updated inventory of open space in Canton.  Such an inventory 

should include: 

   a. Property identification (including easements protecting open space areas); 

   b. Ownership classification (dedicated, managed, restrictive covenant); c. Property 

owner and rights holders (as appropriate); 

d. Functional classification: purposes, resources preserved, activities supported, 

benefits and amenities provided (or possible), etc. 

e. Identify degree and means of public availability/access (if any); 

f. Identify the party(ies) responsible for management, management level/ tasks, and 

significant or unusual management issues; 

g. Appropriate mapping (including easements); 

h. Identification of any encroachments, and actions for enforcement. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

09-Jun-2016: CC has put this on hold to focus on NRI; they stated they will do one 

project at a time. 

H No CC PZC, Town, 

CLCT, 

DEEP 

B OS14 Educate the public on the existence of open space parcels, their value and uses, and the 

role residents can play as good stewards of these assets.  In addition: 

   a. Take steps to assure that property owners with conservation easements or other 

such restrictive covenants on their properties are aware of the existence and location of 

the subject areas and the restrictions that apply. 

b. Take similar steps [to (a.) above] regarding property owners/residents adjacent to 

open space areas. 

NI No CC Town, 

CLCT 



8 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

09-Jun-2016: CC has indicated a lack of interest in pursuing public education 

initiatives. 

B OS15 Monitor, and encourage the public to monitor, Town-controlled open space parcels on 

a periodic basis for: 

   a. Inappropriate or damaging uses; 

   b. Excessive erosion, or other signs of environmental damage; 

   c. Encroachments; and, 

   d. Other conditions detrimental to its open space value. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

05-May-2016: CC does not see this as their role and stated they will not do this.  

U n/a CC BOS, Town, 

CLCT, PW 

B OS7 Develop and keep updated a comprehensive Open Space Plan for the Town which: 

   a. Includes a comprehensive, mapped Open Space Inventory. 

   b. Identifies and discusses the open space attributes and benefits that are desirable to 

meet the Town’s open space attributes and benefits that are desirable to meet the 

Town’s open space objectives – prioritize as is practical. 

c. Identifies, discusses, and prioritizes general categories of land targeted for future 

open space creation; top priorities recommended by this Plan are: i) Land along the 

Farmington River corridor; ii) Land for recreational purposes consistent with the 

objectives of the Community Facilities chapter of this Plan; iii) Land that creates 

linkages/ greenway connections between open space parcels (as may be held by 

various stewards). Iv) Agricultural land consistent with the objectives of the 

Agriculture chapter of this Plan; and, v) Land along Cherry Brook and other major 

stream corridors, including parcels that are known to experience significant flood 

H No CC PRC, PZC, 

Town, 

CLCT 



9 

 

damage (as opportunity may arise). 

d. Establishes clear criteria and decision-making process for evaluating the suitability 

and value of parcels for potential open space acquisition. 

e. Evaluates and identifies opportunities for repurposing or expanding amenities at 

existing open space parcels for meeting evolving priorities and needs, while protecting  

the overall integrity and value of the existing open space. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

09-Jun-2016: CC has put this on hold to focus on NRI; stated they will do one project 

at a time. 

 

  



10 

 

EDA 

G ED1 Pursue a long term goal to increase the tax base proportion from 15% commercial/ 

85% residential to 20% commercial/ 80% residential. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on possible POCD update. 

n/a Yes EDA BOS, BOF, 

PZC, Town 

G ED41 Leverage and enhance the Town's existing economic assets. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on possible POCD update. 

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, 

Town, 

CoC, MST 

A ED66 Provide a concierge service to applicants to assist in applicant's understanding and 

navigation of the processes. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on possible POCD update. 

D No EDA PZC, Town 

 

PIC 

B NR3 Incorporate the completed NRI into the POCD and use it as an important reference in 

associated land use decisions. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 09-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on POCD update. 

D Yes PIC PZC, CC, 

Town 

 

PRC 

A F21 Develop a comprehensive plan for the renovation or replacement of Mills Pond Pool. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 08-Jun-2016: Marked for update. 

P No PRC BOS, BOF, 

PW, Town 



11 

 

PZC 

G ED12 Expand opportunities for light industry. 

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 08-Jun-2016: Marked for update. 

n/a n/a PZC EDA, 

Town, CoC 

B ED13 Increase the available inventory of land zoned for light industry.   

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 08-Jun-2016: Marked for update. 

NI No PZC EDA, 

Town 

 

WPCA 

O ED2 Expand public water and sewer to stimulate investment within business areas -- 

established or proposed (including mixed-use) in the POCD:  

   a. Seek to leverage available funding sources (e.g. grants and loans). 

   b. Work cooperatively with surrounding sewer authorities to stimulate development 

(i.e. East Gateway and West Gateway). 

c. Set aside investments for expanding sewer/ water system. 

d. Look at community based septic and water systems in areas where service is not 

available or practical. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

08-Jun-2016: Subsection C; marked for discussion on possible update of POCD. 

n/a Yes WPCA UTIL, 

BOS, 

Town, 

RES 

 



Status Report - Full 6-13-16

Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A I1 Establish a POCD Implementation Committee
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Update

S Yes BOS PZC, Town

O I2 Provide prominent notice of the POCD and keep the copy of the Plan posted on the Town 
website current.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: corrected status back to 'n/a' as appropriate for 'O' and 'G' items.

n/a Yes PIC BOS, Town

O I3 Follow appropriate processes for Plan updates; and keep CRCOG and CTOPM apprised of 
updates.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: No updates have been proposed.

n/a n/a Town PIC, PZC, BOS

O I4 Provide an annual status report on the POCD to the BOS.
   a) Hold an annual meeting with Town staff to review implementation status and issues. 
   b) Hold an annual meeting with elected and appointed officials to review implementation 
status and issues.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Meetings with town staff were held, along with a Superboard meeting that 
focused on the POCD.

n/a Yes PIC ALL

13-Jun-2016 Page 1 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O I5 Regularly monitor implementation progress, successes, failures, conditions, and public 
attitudes; and perform additional research and evaluations, and update the relevant Plan 
components as warranted.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: PIC was formally established and progress is being monitored and assembled 
into an Annual Report.

n/a Yes PIC PZC, ALL

O I6 Use the POCD as an active document to guide land use, infrastructure, and other relevant 
Town policies and decisions.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Being pursued by Town Leaders. Incorporated into Superboard meetings.

n/a Yes BOS ALL

G I7 Coordinate with programs and efforts of CRCOG and State agencies, as appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Staff routinely coordinates with CRCOG and state agencies on numerous 
projects and initiatives.

n/a Yes Town PIC, PZC, BOS

G CC1 Manage development densities and other patterns of development to be consistent with 
POCD principles.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Minimally addressed in 2014 Zoning. Incorporated as appropriate in Draft 
Design Regulations under review.

n/a Yes PZC Town

A CC2 Revise land use regulations to keep development features at a human scale.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

13-Jun-2016 Page 2 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A CC3 Revise regulations to encourage multiple smaller buildings (or the appearance of multiple 
smaller buildings) on commercial sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

A CC4 Revise regulations to minimize vehicle corridors (physically and visually) in commercial 
areas:
   a.    Minimize street widths.
   b.    Locate buildings close to the street, with minimal parking between the street and the 
building.
   c.    Visually narrow the corridor with landscaping and using building facades at least 1.5 
stories high.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

A CC5 Revise regulations to minimize the visual 'bulk' of parking areas:
   a.     Minimize parking requirements and promote shared parking and access.
   b.    Break up parking into multiple smaller areas where practical.
   c.    Visually break up larger parking areas with landscaped medians and islands.  (Remain 
mindful of snow removal.)
   d.    Visually screen large parking areas from adjacent roadways with appropriate means.  
(e.g. using site buildings and many types of landscaping are appropriate; discourage tall 
walls, fences, solid shrub 'walls', or obvious constructed berms.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

G CC6 Use architectural designs and building facades that are appropriate for the character of the 
town and the neighborhood surrounding a development. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC. New commerical 
building approved in 2015 after careful architectural consideration of the neighborhood.

n/a Yes PZC HDC, MST, PMBC, Town, CoC

13-Jun-2016 Page 3 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC7 Keep the natural environment a prominent part of Canton's landscape.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on next POCD update.

n/a n/a CC ALL

G CC8 Keep the preservation of rural character as a priority in the acquisition of open space.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Efforts initiated on Bristol's Farm.

n/a Yes CC PZC, IWWA, Town, BOS, BOF, 
CLCT

G CC9 Preserve farmland soils and working farms.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Efforts initiated on Bristol's Farm.

n/a Yes CC PZC, IWWA, Town, BOS, BOF, 
CLCT

G CC10 Expand and maintain the Town's trail systems.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: New fence installed along River Trail Spring 2016. Town has applied for Road 
Safety Audits and Transportation Grants to improve access to and safety of Trail System, 
Spring, 2016.

n/a Yes PW CC, Town, PRC, BOS, BOF

G CC11 Encourage more pedestrian- and bicycle-friendly pathways and traffic flow.  (Thereby 
making Canton safer and more accommodating for the enjoyment of the rural character.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Improved bike-ped design standards included in draft Form Based Code, and 
4 Road Safety Audits were submitted to DOT to evaluate bike-ped safety on Routes 44, 179 
and 565. Improved bike-ped design standards included in draft Form Based Code.

n/a Yes Town PD, PRC, PZC, BOS, BOF

A CC12 Adopt regulations and policies that provide for/allow adequate, but minimal outdoor 
lighting and that incorporate best management practices to limit light spill-over beyond 
where it is needed and intended. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Incorporated into 2014 Zoning Reg rewrite.

S Yes PZC PW, PMBC, UTIL, CTDOT, BOE, 
PRC

13-Jun-2016 Page 4 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A CC13 Adopt policies to retain and encourage small, community- oriented businesses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Efforts ensuing to meet regularly with and develop relationship with 
Chamber. Working through Main Street to provide a more cohesive umbrella for small 
businesses in Collinsville Area.

P Yes EDA PZC, BOS, MST, Town, CoC

A CC14 Revise land use regulations to promote a variety of archectural styles in commercial areas 
and multi-family buildings, in keeping with the character of surrounding areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, EDA, MST, CoC

G CC15 Encourage a variety of commercial enterprises.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Provided as part of marketing and branding effort reinforced importance of 
having this variety.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, CoC, MST

G CC16 Land use regulations and agency actions that promote a  variety of neighborhoods and 
housing to accommodate households of diverse sizes and economic status.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: IHZ considerations under review in Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST, WPCA, Town

G CC17 Foster trade communities for artists and other such 'cottage' industries:
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

n/a Yes BOS EDA, PZC, CoC, MST, RES

G CC18 Create and support opportunities to sustain and promote space for music and the arts -- 
especially in Collinsville.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Provided as part of streetscape construction in 2015.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, CoC, MST, PRC, 
Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 5 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B CC19 Pursue regulations that allow for shared space environments (live-work units) which 
creates affordable opportunities for artists and other such tradespeople to live and apply 
their trade in the community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Some incorporation in Design Regulation Project; there have been 
discussions on inclusion in the Collins Company redevelopment project.

P Yes PZC

G CC20 Encourage collaboration between artists, (and other such tradespeople,) and businesses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Established as part of Collinsville Hot and through umbrella insurance 
program.

n/a Yes EDA CoC, MST

G CC21 Promote and encourage uses that further tourism in Canton:
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Established as part of Collinsville Hot and event coordination through Canton 
Main Street.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, MST, CoC

G CC22 Encourage additional tourist accommodations; (i.e. bed and breakfast establishments, a 
properly sized boutique hotel, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Discussions held with prospective buyers of property on possible 
conversions to B&B's. Being pursued in Collins Company redevelopment.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, MST, CoC

G CC23 Encourage context appropriate attractions and businesses that leverage the Town’s assets.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Branding and event work over the past year supports this measure.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, MST, CoC

13-Jun-2016 Page 6 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC24 Encourage pedestrian and bicycle connections from the Farmington River Trail to, and 
through, relevant commerce areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Submitted for review as part of 4 Road Safety Audit requests to DOT in 2016.

n/a Yes Town PD, PZC, BOS, BOF, PW, CoC, 
MST

G CC25 Encourage and effect the identification of scenic views, viewsheds, and features whenever 
practical. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No CC PZC, BOS, FRWC

G CC26 Conserve tree and shrub buffers along streets whenever possible.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: The Tree Warden has also reviewed and commented on draft street tree 
standards in Design Regulation.

n/a Yes PZC CC, PW

G CC27 Protect identified public right-of-way views of scenic value.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Actions being taken to protect Bristol's Farm identified as a Character 
Resource.

n/a Yes PZC CC, BOS, PW

G CC28 Design subdivisions such that new structures in scenic areas or which may affect scenic 
views are hidden to the extent practical.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No relevent applications or referrals in FY; however, supporting review 
language included in Subdivision Rewrite Draft.

n/a Yes PZC CC 

G CC29 Limit development-related clear-cuts and exposed home sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No relevent applications or referrals in FY; however, supporting review 
language included in Subdivision Rewrite Draft.

n/a Yes PZC CC

13-Jun-2016 Page 7 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

C CC30 Pursue additional scenic road designations as indicated on the Character Resources map on 
page 13 of the 'Strategic Component'.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: CC felt this was more of a BOS issue; marked for discussion on next POCD 
update.

NI No CC BOS, PZC

G CC31 Land use and agency actions that promote the preservation /re-purposing of significant 
historic buildings.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Supporting language presently included in Subdivision Rewrite Draft.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, CC, HDC

G CC32 Land use and agency actions that promote agricultural vitality.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Actions being taken to protect Bristol's Farm.

n/a Yes PZC CC, BOS

G CC33 Land use and agency actions that promote the industrial heritage of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC EDA, BOS

G CC34 Land use and agency actions that promote the mixed-use heritage of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Village District Statutes incorporated into Design Regulation Draft.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST, HDC

G CC35 Land use and agency actions that promote the small business and entrepreneurial heritage 
of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: TIF Master Plan being pursued to support Collins Co. redevelopment.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST 

13-Jun-2016 Page 8 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC36 Promote tax incentives, loan programs, etc. for restoration of older buildings.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: This strategy is being explored on a grand scale with the Collins Company as 
part of a TIF study.  This has not yet been considered for smaller buildings/properties.

n/a Yes BOS BOF, Town, EDA, MST, HDC

G CC37 Preserve and enhance village centers, maintaining a historical context. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Responsible Growth Grant requested documenting intent to support Village 
Center. Village Distirct regulations drafted in Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, EDA, Town, MST, HDC

G CC38 Encourage and facilitate Collins Company complex redevelopment.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Grant applied for and received to explore the use of TIF as a mechanism to 
encourage and facilitate redevelopment.

n/a Yes BOS EDA, PZC, MST, HDC

G CC39 Encourage and facilitate infill and adaptive reuse in concert with surrounding context and 
heritage.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, CoC

G CC40 Continue to support, promote, & look to enhance existing community-oriented events and 
organizations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Working with Canton Main Street to develop an event checklist and 
coordinate events with community businesses and services for maximum success.

n/a Yes Town ALL

G CC41 Promote and appreciate volunteerism within the community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Volunteer Fair held in January 2016 to promote volunteerism.

n/a Yes BOS ALL

13-Jun-2016 Page 9 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC42 Continue to support and maintain a quality educational system for the Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No update provided.

n/a n/a BOE BOF, BOS, RES

G CC43 Make quality public spaces a priority and set aside appropriate resources to maintain them. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: The Town has made improvements to Mills Pond Park, applied for a grant for 
Lawton Road Park, and is working towards access to the Farmington River through the 
proposed Public Works facility.

n/a Yes BOS BOF, PMBC, Town

G CC44 Continue to support, promote, and enhance community assets.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: The community is being promoted through the EDA's marketing program.

n/a Yes BOS ALL

G CC45 Continue to encourage and promote the community’s welcoming spirit to all residents and 
visitors alike.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Created welcoming spirit by promoting events, such as the Collinsville Classic 
10K, Collinsville Hot, and the EDA's marketing and branding program.

n/a Yes BOS ALL

G CC46 Keep communication and customer service a priority from Town staff and organizations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: New hires introduced into culture of customer service. Employee 
evaluations include review of cross communication and cooperation between departments.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOE

B NR1 Develop and maintain a comprehensive Natural Resources Inventory (NRI).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: No comment.

P Yes CC IWWA, Town, BOS, FRWC

13-Jun-2016 Page 10 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O NR2 Continue efforts to protect and preserve priority natural resources.  (See Chapter 3.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Efforts to develop an NRI are underway.

n/a Yes CC IWWA, Town, PZC

B NR3 Incorporate the completed NRI into the POCD and use it as an important reference in 
associated land use decisions.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on possible POCD update.

D Yes PIC PZC, CC, Town

C NR4 Perform a verification study of identified potential vernal pools.  
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Data previously collected, which needs to be mapped.

P No CC IWWA, Town, FRWC

C NR5 Once vernal pools are verified and their ecologic functions are categorized, consider new 
regulations (or review procedures) as necessary to protect vernal pools found to be of 
significant ecological value.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: No comment.

NI No CC IWWA, PZC, Town

B NR6 Incorporate the CT DEEP Natural Diversity Database (NDDB) into the regulatory review 
process (inclusion of the NDDB reporting form in applications to the Town and 
incorporating guidance from DEEP into Town actions).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Land Use Office has made this a standard part of the application submittal 
review and pre-application processes.

S Yes Town PZC, CC

13-Jun-2016 Page 11 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B NR7 Support priority recommendations of the Upper Mill Pond Master Plan identified on page 
24 of the 'Strategic Component'.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Recommendations of the Upper Mill Pond Master Plan under review for 
incorporation as part of the possible redevelopment of the Town Highway Garage site.

P Yes BOS CC, PRC, PMBC, Town, IWWA

O NR8 Continue to monitor and enforce the Farmington River Protection Overlay District.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No CC PZC, Town, FRWC

O NR9 Continue to review permits for disturbances in upland review areas of watercourses to 
protect the natural resource value of the watercourse.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Continues to be implemented as part of on going business and application 
reviews.

n/a Yes IWW
A

CC, Town 

G NR10 Support a proper balance and appropriate accommodation of the various natural resource 
values of the watercourses when such values may be in conflict.  (i.e. – the provision of fish 
ladders through hydro-electric power generation.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Currently seeking a fish passage as part of the hydro facility.

n/a Yes BOS IWWA, PZC, CC, PMBC, Town

A NR11 Develop fundamental updated storm water management (SWM) regulations for zoning and 
subdivision.  Focus on treatment and volume of discharge in addition to peak discharge.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Partially incorporated May 2014. MS4 program forthcoming from DEEP will 
dictate schedule for completion.

P Yes PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

13-Jun-2016 Page 12 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A NR12 Incorporate Low Impact Development (LID) techniques into SWM regulations for use where 
practical:
   a. Rain gardens, tree boxes, & depressed vegetated medians.
   b. Porous pavement.
   c. Gravel “wetlands” and wet ponds.
   d. Vegetated swales and buffers.
   e. Other best management practice (BMP) bioretention measures.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Partially incorporated May 2014. MS4 program forthcoming from DEEP will 
dictate schedule for completion.

P Yes PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

O NR13 When significant modifications occur on existing sites, require that stormwater 
management controls be updated to reflect current standards and best management 
practices (BMPs) to practical extents.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Pursued on a number of sites seeking building permits under new Zoning 
requirement.

n/a Yes PZC IWWA, Town

C NR14 Investigate ways to (with reasonable burden to the property owner) encourage/ ensure 
adequate maintenance of installed stormwater management facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: General provision in 2014 Zoning; however, additional initiatives toward this 
measure required.

P No PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

A NR15 Incorporate BMPs for steep slope management and design into regulations and standards.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Incorporated into Zoning May 2014; under review in Subdivision Rewrite 
2016.

P Yes PZC IWWA, CC, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 13 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A NR16 Restrict development on natural slopes exceeding 25% (and/or restrict the heights/extents 
of constructed slopes of certain steepness – consider different thresholds for business 
districts vs. residential districts.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Incorporated into Zoning May 2014; under review in Subdivision Rewrite 
2016.

P Yes PZC Town

G NR17 Establish a priority of conserving the natural resource functions of existing core forest areas 
500 acres or greater in size.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No CC PZC, BOS, CLCT, Town

G NR18 Make core forest areas a priority for open space acquisition as the primary means of 
protecting these areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No CC BOS, PZC, CLCT, Town

G NR19 Ensure/ encourage that development plans in core forest areas limit unnecessary clear 
cutting and fragmentation, utilize BMPs and habitat management.  (Note: clearing for bona 
fide agricultural activities -including foresting - or natural habitat enhancement should not 
be discouraged.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Draft language incorporated into Subdivision Rewrite under review.

n/a Yes PZC CC, Town

B NR20 Develop and enforce regulations on clear cutting in such core forest areas, limited to those 
activities carried out by a forester certified by the DEEP.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

NI No PZC CC, IWWA, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 14 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O NR21 Employ best management practices in regards to the use of pesticides and herbicides on 
town-owned or maintained lands.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Roadside managemnt pesticide application plan adopted in 2014 continues 
to be followed.

n/a Yes PW BOS, Town, CC

B NR22 Use public education programs (promote and extend DEEP education efforts) regarding:
   a. Use of pesticides and herbicides – damage to environment, organic options, avoid 
excessive use.
   b. Invasive species.
   c. Proper tree and forest management
   d. Dumping (including leaves) into storm drainage systems and water-courses
   e. Vehicle washing or maintenance where associated runoff waters may reach 
watercourses untreated.
   f. Other discharges to or diversions from watercourses, which are (or may be) harmful to 
those waters.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: No comment.

NI No CC IWWA, Town, BOE

G OS1 Recognize the importance of and facilitate communication and coordination between the 
various stakeholders involved in the planning, acquisition, and management of open space. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Cross communication occurs regularly between the Town, CLCT and 
property owners.

n/a Yes CC PRC, BOS, Town, CLCT

G OS2 Take an active role in pursuing open space opportunities in coordination with other 
stakeholders.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-May-2016: Researched properties with the Canton Conservation Land Trust; no grants 
pursued.

n/a Yes CC PRC, BOS, Town, CLCT

13-Jun-2016 Page 15 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G OS3 Coordinate the open space objectives, strategies, and tasks identified as a priority in this 
Plan between various Town boards, commissions, and departments internally and with the 
Land Trust (and other open space stewards as appropriate). 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Development of an Open Space Plan adopted as a BOS Goal in 2016. Staff 
coordinates efforts to preserve land with various entities.

n/a Yes BOS CC, Town, CLCT

G OS4 Support the Land Trust’s open space endeavors as opportunity arises and as is consistent 
with the Town’s interests.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Town staff routinely assists CLCT in the preparation of Open Space Grant 
applications to DEEP.

n/a Yes BOS CC, PZC, Town, CLCT

G OS5 Understand that government discussing the acquisition of privately owned land must be 
done carefully and with a great deal of sensitivity and respect for the property owner.  
Once a property is identified as a potential candidate for open space acquisition, the 
engagement of and communication with the property owner as early on as possible is a 
priority.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Town staff has met with owners of Bristol's Farm and has assisted in the 
coordination of grant funds, but has not taken the lead.

n/a Yes BOS CC, PZC, Town, CLCT

G OS6 Identify and involve other stakeholders to a potential open space creation as soon in the 
process as is practical.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Town staff continues to meet with farmers and local, state, and federal 
officals to explore preservation.

n/a Yes CC BOS, Town, CLCT

13-Jun-2016 Page 16 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B OS7 Develop and keep updated a comprehensive Open Space Plan for the Town which:
   a. Includes a comprehensive, mapped Open Space Inventory.
   b. Identifies and discusses the open space attributes and benefits that are desirable to 
meet the Town’s open space objectives – prioritize as is practical.
   c. Identifies, discusses, and prioritizes general categories of land targeted for future open 
space creation; top priorities recommended by this Plan are:  i) Land along the Farmington 
River corridor;  ii) Land for recreational purposes consistent with the objectives of the 
Community Facilities chapter of this Plan;  iii) Land that creates linkages/ greenway 
connections between open space parcels (as may be held by various stewards).  Iv) 
Agricultural land consistent with the objectives of the Agriculture chapter of this Plan; and,  
v) Land along Cherry Brook and other major stream corridors, including parcels that are 
known to experience significant flood damage (as opportunity may arise).
   D. Establishes clear criteria and decision-making process for evaluating the suitability and 
value of parcels for potential open space acquisition.
   E. Evaluates and identifies opportunities for repurposing or expanding amenities at 
existing open space parcels for meeting evolving priorities and needs, while protecting the 
overall integrity and value of the existing open space.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: CC has put this on hold to focus on NRI; stated they will do one project at a 
time.

H No CC PRC, PZC, Town, CLCT

B OS8 In general, update Town government regulations and programs to be consistent with and 
further the open space objectives of this POCD and those of a developed Open Space Plan; 
and to encourage beneficial acquisitions of open space and active open space stewardship.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Preservation of Bristol's Farm pursued.

D Yes BOS CC, PZC, PRC, Town

B OS9 Update Subdivision Regulations to maximize open space ‘value’ of lands or monetary 
resources to be associated with open space set-asides and achieve an appropriate balance 
of various open space components.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Under review in current subdivision rewrite.

P Yes PZC CC, BOS, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 17 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B OS10 Update land use Regulations to:
   a. Promote conservation subdivision design.
   b. Build open space into neighborhood design to help preserve rural character.
   c. Expand allowed open space uses to include certain agricultural activities and use for 
subsurface wastewater disposal areas. 
   d. Take a holistic approach to open space decisions, balancing the:  i) Overall benefits and 
value of open space proposed to be created within the subdivision property;  ii) Value of 
leveraging partial credit for lands that [currently] have limited development potential, (e.g. 
wetlands, steep slopes, floodplains, etc.) into larger set-aside areas; and  iii) Open space 
value that may be achieved by “fee-in-lieu-of” funds.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Incorporated into Zoning May 2014; under review in Subdivision Rewrite 
2016.

P Yes PZC CC, BOS, Town

G OS11 Encourage the continued availability of funding for acquisition of priority open space as 
warranted:
   a. Capital funds, reserve funds, and/or bond funding;
   b. Governmental Grants;
   c. Allow revenue generating, non-destructive/renewable uses on Town-owned open 
space lands where appropriate, such as:  i) Rental of garden plots,  ii)Limited logging,  iii) 
Rental of certain recreational and other amenities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Priority Open Space

n/a Yes BOS BOF, CC, PRC, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 18 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A OS12 Build and maintain an updated inventory of open space in Canton.  Such an inventory 
should include:
   a. Property identification (including easements protecting open space areas);
   b. Ownership classification (dedicated, managed, restrictive covenant);
   c. Property owner and rights holders (as appropriate);
   d. Functional classification: purposes, resources preserved, activities supported, benefits 
and amenities provided (or possible), etc.
   e. Identify degree and means of public availability/access (if any);
   f. Identify the party(ies) responsible for management, management level/ tasks, and 
significant or unusual management issues;
   g. Appropriate mapping (including easements);
   h. Identification of any encroachments, and actions for enforcement.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: CC has put this on hold to focus on NRI; they stated they will do one project 
at a time.

H No CC PZC, Town, CLCT, DEEP

B OS13 Complete a realistic, workable open space management manual for Town maintained open 
space (including conservation easements).  Such manual should:
   a. Consider the individual needs of sites and be site-specific where appropriate;
   b. Include appropriate maintenance objectives and tasks;
   c. Include a tactical implementation plan with defined roles and responsibilities;
   d. Consider creative ways to meet objectives that will help reduce the burden on the 
Town (e.g. volunteer days, cooperative efforts, etc.); and
   e. Be included in the Facilities Management Plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: No attempts in 2015.

P No CC PW, PRC, BOS, Town, CLCT

13-Jun-2016 Page 19 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B OS14 Educate the public on the existence of open space parcels, their value and uses, and the 
role residents can play as good stewards of these assets.  In addition:
   a. Take steps to assure that property owners with conservation easements or other such 
restrictive covenants on their properties are aware of the existence and location of the 
subject areas and the restrictions that apply.
   b. Take similar steps [to (a.) above] regarding property owners/residents adjacent to open 
space areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on next POCD update.

NI No CC Town, CLCT

B OS15 Monitor, and encourage the public to monitor, Town-controlled open space parcels on a 
periodic basis for:
   a. Inappropriate or damaging uses;
   b. Excessive erosion, or other signs of environmental damage;
   c. Encroachments; and,
   d. Other conditions detrimental to its open space value.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: CC does not see this as their role and stated they will not do this. Try to 
facilitate with new members.

U n/a CC BOS, Town, CLCT, PW

B A1 Develop and maintain an updated inventory of active agricultural lands and resources 
within Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Map of active agricultural lands previously created. Next step is to identify 
attributes to keep and to populate the attributes for each location.

P No CC Town 

13-Jun-2016 Page 20 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A A2 Include a farmland preservation planning program in the duties of the Conservation 
Commission (a necessary step for some State funding); related duties should include:
   a. Create and maintain the active agriculture inventory for the Town;
   b. Create and maintain a Farmland Preservation Plan for the Town;
   c. Keep current on developments and opportunities available to assist in local farmland 
preservation from state and federal programs and other sources, including:  i) CT Dept. of 
Agriculture Community Farmland Preservation and  Farmland Restoration Programs, and 
other potential resources;  ii) Federal Natural Resource Conservation Service Programs;  iii) 
CT DEEP open space programs; and,  iv) CT Farmland Trust programs; and, 
   d. Periodically monitor and evaluate the efforts and conditions relating to farmland 
preservation in Canton in relation to the priorities, goals, and strategies set forth in the 
Farmland Preservation Plan and this POCD and make recommendations to various Town 
Boards and Commissions regarding the same.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: a. Done; b. Partially Complete; c. Ongoing, Bristol Farm Department of 
Agriculture in process; d. Ongoing, Rights to Farm Ordinance adopted

P Yes CC BOS

O A3 Remain cognizant of various requirements for potential grant funding for protecting 
farmland, including funding mechanism requirements.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Assistant Planner monitoring farmland preservation plans and coordinating 
efforts with local farmers and Department of Agriculture.

n/a Yes BOS BOF, CC, Town

G A4 Keep farmland preservation a priority in open space acquisition matters and specifically 
within the Open Space Plan for the Town; priorities with respect to acquisition of farmland 
as open space should include:
   a. The value and viability of the property for commercial farming;
   b. The history of farming on the property;
   c. Aesthetic values of the farming operation;
   d. Other scenic values of the property;
   e. The proximity of the property to other farming/open space.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-May-2016: Progress made towards farmland preservation; no progress yet on Open 
Space Plan.

n/a Yes CC BOS, PZC, Town, CLCT

13-Jun-2016 Page 21 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B A5 Adopt a “right-to-farm” ordinance – essentially codifies that the community considers that 
the positives of farming outweigh the negatives.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Right to Farm Ordinance adopted.

S Yes BOS CC, Town

A A6 Revise Zoning Regulations to be local farm friendly in residential zones [not exclusively], 
without significantly compromising the integrity and character of the surrounding 
neighborhood, including:
   a. Minimize regulatory hurdles for the operation of farm produce stands;
   b. Allow for expanded product lines that include farm products not produced on the 
subject farm;
   c. Allow for expanded product lines that include crafts or agriculture-derived products 
that are locally produced with a local or regional consumer focus;
   d. Allow for on-site processing of locally grown product, limited to local or regional 
consumer focus;
   e. Allow for adequate, though limited and appropriate, signage for farm produce stands 
and other similar agriculture retail endeavors to inform the public of its location.
   f. Allow for farms to offer consumer supported agriculture (CSA) programs; and,
   g. Allow for on-site events that showcase local products (e.g. dinners, luncheons, wine 
tastings, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Adopted May 2014.

S Yes PZC CC, Town

O A7 Offer/continue to offer agricultural tax exemptions and abatements allowed by state 
statutes.
   a. Local legislation enabling up to a 50% tax abatement for many types of farms.
   b. Local legislation to extend the farm machinery and building tax exemption.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: BOS approved tax exemption policy for farm equipment. Town continues to 
offer abatement for farmland.

n/a Yes BOS BOF, Town 

13-Jun-2016 Page 22 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A A8 Use the Capital Region Council of Governments prepared model regulations with respect to 
Agriculture, which are recognized state-wide as an excellent example, as a reference 
source.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: Appropriate elements incorporated into Zoning Reg rewrite.

S Yes PZC CC, Town

G A9 Allow, encourage, and support events that market or celebrate local agriculture, including:
   a. Farmers markets;
   b. Agricultural related fairs or festivals;
   c. Agricultural related educational events;
   d. Encourage the purchase of local agricultural products by Town institutions.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Farmers market supported on Town property.

n/a Yes BOS CC, PZC, BOE, PRC, Town

G ED1 Pursue a long term goal to increase the tax base proportion from 15% commercial/ 85% 
residential to 20% commercial/ 80% residential.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on possible POCD update.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, BOF, PZC, Town

O ED2 Expand public water and sewer to stimulate investment within  business areas -- 
established or proposed (including mixed-use) in the POCD: 
   a. Seek to leverage available funding sources (e.g. grants and loans).
   b. Work cooperatively with surrounding sewer authorities to stimulate development (i.e. 
East Gateway and West Gateway).
   c. Set aside investments for expanding sewer/ water system.
   d. Look at community based septic and water systems in areas where service is not 
available or practical.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Subsection C; marked for discussion on possible update of POCD.

n/a Yes WPCA UTIL, BOS, Town, RES

13-Jun-2016 Page 23 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G ED3 Restore the business potential at the Harts Corner area (intersection of State Routes 44, 
202, and 179).  This is the town’s largest transit node which previously had a number of 
commercial properties.  The realignment of this intersection greatly reduced its economic 
potential, yet development should be promoted.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Road Safety Audit requested from CTDOT for this area. Staff, EDA, property 
owners and DOT have met in 2015, and discussed disposition of land to private property 
owners for economic benefit.

n/a Yes BOS PZC, Town, CTDOT, CRCOG

G ED4 Encourage cooperation between property owners (including the state) to create more 
buildable area/ increase development potential between lots.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on possible POCD update.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, Town, CTDOT, CoC

B ED5 Relocate the commuter lot at Hart's Corner to less commercially valuable land to create an 
additional lot for development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on next POCD update.

D Yes EDA CTDOT

B ED6 Develop a master plan for Hart's Corner to maximize development potential in harmony 
with the character of the area and its natural resources.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Town officials have met with DOT planners about the possibilites of re-
configuring the traffic pattern at Harts Corner, and established a positive relationship 
leading to the dispostion of excess land from the DOT at Harts Corner.

P Yes EDA BOS, PZC, CoC

13-Jun-2016 Page 24 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED7 Consider re-zoning the front part of Bristol’s Farm (abutting Route 44) from residential to 
commercial.  (Note: This is not to render an opinion on its future status as agricultural land; 
rather that, if it should get developed, commercial is preferable to residential.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Present preservation actions take priority over this implementation measure.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, PO

A ED8 Limit big-box retail development to appropriate locations (East Gateway is the preferred 
location), and with appropriate design constraints in keeping with the desired community 
character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Since 2014, now controlled by design districts. This status should be changed 
to S.

S Yes PZC Town

O ED9 Anticipate and promote development on the opportunity locations identified in the POCD 
in accordance with the principles of this Plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Continual discussion on promoting opportunity locations, including 
requesting funding for studies to explore the development of the Industrial Park and 
provide utilities to Route 44.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, WPCA, Town

G ED10 Understand that condominiums/apartments/higher density residential uses adjacent to or 
near commercial land are to be treated as an appropriate transitional use between 
business areas and single family neighborhoods.  The existence of such higher density 
residential uses should not influence or be used to deny proposed commercial 
development on such commercial land.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: This strategy/intent has been relayed to developers making inquiries.

n/a Yes PZC Town, MST, RES

13-Jun-2016 Page 25 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O ED11 Consider modest, minimally intrusive ways to turn potentially tax-negative land into 
potentially tax-positive land:
   a. Establish conforming mixed-use areas.
   b. Make existing non-conforming business conforming; and allowing reasonable, modest 
expansion of those businesses.
   c. Promote conversion of single family structures to business uses where zoning allows.
   d. Consider modest expansion of existing commercial and industrial areas (including using 
mixed-use to accomplish this) where appropriate.
   e. Appropriate design constraints are essential to the implementation of this strategy.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Mixed use incorporated into Design Regulation draft under review.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST

G ED12 Expand opportunities for light industry.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for update.

n/a n/a PZC EDA, Town, CoC

B ED13 Increase the available inventory of land zoned for light industry.  
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for update.

NI No PZC EDA, Town

B ED14 Consider allowing a limited number of light industrial uses on certain size lots as a special 
exception in residential zones with appropriate design constraints and limitations on future 
expansion.  (The Perry industrial facility along Barbourtown Road is an example of an 
industrial use existing in harmony within a residential neighborhood.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

NI No PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

13-Jun-2016 Page 26 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED15 Consider allowing certain light industry as a mixed-use component with commercial in 
appropriate locations. The legacy of Canton is a community that “made things” in facilities 
in mixed-use areas such as Canton Center and Collinsville.  
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Under partial consideration in Design Regulation Project.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

B ED16 Review the existing industrial park for development constraints, market feasibility, and 
marketing strategy.  Consider reducing setback requirements and expanded uses permitted 
as of right to increase the industrial park’s potential as a viable option for industry.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Setbacks requirements are reduced by zoning. A study for the industrial park 
was requested in the 2016 operating budget, but not funded.

P Yes EDA PZC, BOS, Town, CoC

C ED17 Get the Swift Chemical superfund site back on the tax rolls as developed/ developable 
property.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Town has initiated litigation to callect back taxes.

P Yes BOS EDA, DEEP

G ED18 Consider the redevelopment of the Collins Company site, in a manner which has a good 
balance of commercial to residential use, to be an incontrovertible priority to the Town 
economically. Take appropriate actions necessary to support its redevelopment. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: To be discussed with the public as part of the TIF Master Plan development 
process.

n/a Yes BOS EDA, PZC, IWWA, CoC, MST

13-Jun-2016 Page 27 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED19 Prioritize and designate appropriate areas for and develop regulations to allow mixed-use 
in Canton:
   a. Multiple mixed-use zones (e.g. neighborhood commercial/residential; general 
commercial/residential; professional office/residential; light industry/commercial; etc.) 
may be appropriate.  
   b. Appropriate design parameters/constraints would be key in establishing the various 
mixed use zones to maintain the appropriate character desired for a particular zone.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, CoC

B ED20 Consider allowing the expansion of uses within/ around Canton Center that would be 
historically appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No actions in 2015-2016.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, CoC

B ED21 Consider allowing for increases in impervious and building coverage in areas identified as 
appropriate for mixed use and commercial development (with appropriate environmental 
and aesthetic safeguards).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Incorporated into Zoning May 2014; under review in Design Regulation 
Project 2016.

P Yes PZC IWWA, BOS

B ED22 Fund a market feasibility study.   
   a. Identify economic strengths and weaknesses of the Town.
   b. Identify target markets (including potential niche markets) and locations to maximize 
economic potential and sustainability of the Town in keeping with overall POCD objectives.
   c. Identify recommended steps and strategies to achieve the goals.
   d. Identify potential pitfalls and make recommendations for how to avoid them.
   e. The Industrial Park should be one particular focus of the study.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Partially funded and complete as part of 2015 Marketing and Branding study 
by the EDA. Industrial Park not studied.

P Yes BOS BOF, EDA, Town, CoC, MST

13-Jun-2016 Page 28 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED23 Develop a marketing strategy to promote the Town as a place for doing business, 
recreation, entertainment, and tourism.  Look for ways to bring in customers from outside 
of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Marketing and Branding strategy developed, not yet fully implemented.

P Yes EDA BOS, CoC, MST

B ED24 Develop an educational strategy for the ongoing education of residents on the importance 
of appropriate economic management and development to the economic health and 
sustainability of the Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Continued to populate blog, brought marketing and branding consultant in 
to meet with public, presented at the annual town meeting.

P Yes EDA BOS, CoC, MST

C ED25 Promote the development of small business incubators and economic gardening locations; 
and promote the creation/ use of economic catalysts or incentives to support this measure, 
(e.g. grants, loans, tax related, regulation related, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Idea for co-working space has been broadcasted to community through 
market study.

D Yes EDA BOS, PZC, CoC, MST

B ED26 Consider a “Managed Downtown” – encourage cooperative and coordinated (managed by 
the business community, supported by the Town) centralized real estate, event, and 
marketing planning and implementation, both at the individual business ‘pocket’ locations 
and from a community-wide perspective (i.e. manage them like a mall). 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Canton Main Street has taken on a lead role as a coordinator for downtown 
activity and pulling project together for benefit of merchants.  Checklist being developed.

P Yes EDA BOS, CoC, MST

13-Jun-2016 Page 29 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED27 Consider the establishment of Business Improvement Districts (BID's) and Transportation 
Improvement Districts (TID's) to stimulate additional investment in key business areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Recently passed legislation on TIF being explored to further this initiative, as 
well as a TOD grant application being submitted.

D Yes EDA BOS, CoC, MST

B ED28 Consider tax incentive packages to stimulate development on key sites of significant 
economic potential (opportunity sites).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Grant funds received and Study Committee formed to explore Tax Increment 
Financing 2015-2016.

P Yes BOS BOF, EDA 

G ED29 Business retention is a high priority.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: First Impression program was conducted in addition to some business 
visitation's to be converted into an action list.

n/a Yes EDA ALL

A ED30 Reduce the permitting burden for existing businesses and developments for minimally 
significant changes (e.g. small expansions, conversions to similar use, façade changes, etc.).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Post 2014, staff now approves many applications administratively and 
commissions have been consolidated. Suggest changing status to S.

S Yes PZC WPCA, EDA, Town

A ED31 Take steps to render existing known and acceptable non-conforming (for use) businesses 
into zoning use conformance, or otherwise to allow the expansion of a non-conforming use 
by Special Permit.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No comment.

P n/a PZC

13-Jun-2016 Page 30 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED32 Provide an educational program for assisting small businesses considering expansion.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Strategy under development, pending board membership changes.

D No EDA PZC

B ED33 Revise regulations for Village Centers to reduce parking requirements appropriate to the 
‘park-once’ nature of a downtown. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Regulations for Collinsville rewritten to function on the premise of shared 
parking.

S Yes PZC EDA, CoC, MST

G ED34 Encourage cross-promotional relationships between local businesses and artists.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Collinsville Hot, Canton Main Street coordination of events for maximum 
benefit.  Ideas under consideration for Hartford 10k, Film Festival.

n/a Yes EDA CoC, MST

A ED35 Create a listing of local businesses on the Town website.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Budget requests submitted to fund this item but not yet initiated. Looking to 
start database with Town Clerk for trade name filings.

D Yes EDA CoC 

A ED36 Remove the practice of restricting hours of operation of community businesses and let 
market forces determine such practices.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Adopted May 2014 - Change Status to S.

S Yes PZC EDA, BOS, CoC, MST

G ED37 Promote infill and redevelopment of existing sites to expand the tax base within existing 
developed areas while maintaining context sensitivity of the surrounding built environment 
and local character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Under discussion in the Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, IWWA, CoC, MST

13-Jun-2016 Page 31 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED38 Promote redevelopment that incorporates shared access to improve access management 
along Route 44.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Some consideration on access management has been explored and 
incorporated into Draft Form Based Code.  Road Safety Audits from CTDOT requested.  
Discussions with property owner has resulted in a plan to connect 153-181 Albany Turnpike.

P Yes PZC EDA, CoC, PO

G ED39 Encourage redevelopment to provide a mix of uses, shared parking and walkable 
connections between different uses and sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Relevant measures being included in the Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, BOS, CoC, MST, PO

B ED40 Increase impervious coverage and building coverage maximums in areas appropriate for 
infill and redevelopment.  Careful consideration should be given to the allowable ratio 
between the two coverage’s to limit sprawl (i.e. individual buildings surrounded by vast 
parking lots) and promote more village styled growth (mixed use).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Incorporated into Zoning May 2014; under review in Design Regulation 
Project 2016.

P Yes PZC EDA, CoC, MST

G ED41 Leverage and enhance the Town's existing economic assets.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on possible POCD update.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

G ED42 Leverage the the economic value of the Farmington River Trail.
   a. Support and pursue its completion into Simsbury.
   b. Support and pursue future connections to trails, or bicycle/ pedestrian friendly routes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Jun-2016: These additional connections are being sought under a Responsible Growth 
Grant.

n/a Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC, CRCOG

13-Jun-2016 Page 32 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G ED43 Leverage the economic value of the Farmington River.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Collinsville Hot focused on the River. Flower Bridge installed.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

G ED44 Re-enforce the Village Centers as the historic centers of community life and economic 
activity.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Grant submitted to re-enforce development in Village Center. Historic 
Walking Tour developed.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

B ED45 Pursue efforts to increase pedestrian traffic on River Street.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Grant application submitted for funds to extend Collinsville Streetscape 
improvements to River Street.

P Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

C ED46 Connect Main Street, Bridge Street, Market Street and River Street with a series of 
historically appropriate handicap accessible walkways, with streetscapes, decorative 
signage and lighting, way finding signage, etc.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Wayfinding signage now sought under Responsible Growth Grant.

P Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

B ED47 Consider the development of Special Design Districts (similar to West Hartford) that allow 
for increased density in exchange for specialized designs.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Adopted in Section 5 of Zoning .

S Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

13-Jun-2016 Page 33 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED48 Transition to form-based zoning for Collinsville and other (proposed) mixed use zones.  Also 
consider form-based zoning for areas that may be targeted as priority locations for infill or 
redevelopment where development character is of higher importance than parcel use.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

G ED49 In all business districts and mixed use zones – increase/ expand sidewalks, including both 
sides of the street wherever feasible and prudent.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Increased sidewalks in Collinsville as part of the streetscape improvement 
program.

n/a Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC, MST

B ED50 Consider allowing mixed use with increased density and impervious coverage in the 
Industrial Park such as a Commerce District defined as a mix of business and industrial and 
high density residential. (Consider a required percentage match of uses and limit 
residential to upper floors.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: EDA submitted a request for funds to explore market feasiblity for alternate 
uses for the Industrial Park; not funded at this time.

D No PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

G ED51 Make maintaining Town infrastructure and facilities, as well as overall community 
aesthetics and amenities, a priority for the Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Supported the Pavement Management program, the proposed Public Works 
Facility, improvements to Mills Pond Park, and the proposed dog park.

n/a Yes BOS PW, Town

O ED52 Encourage businesses, tenants, and property owners to maintain their own properties and 
facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Efforts have successfully continued to clean up properties in Town.

n/a Yes EDA PZC, CoC, MST, Res

13-Jun-2016 Page 34 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O ED53 Explore and pursue state and federal grants and other funding opportunities, and the 
resources and assistance of organizations such as CEDCA, CT Main Street, etc., in meeting 
these objectives.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Responsible Growth and TOD grants pursued; STEAP grants approved. 
Multiple Preservation of Place Grants explored.

n/a Yes EDA BOS, Town, CoC, MST

O ED54 Revise land use regulations to be in step with the POCD.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: A series of new regulations are under development.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

O ED55 Periodically remind and refresh the training of board members regarding:   
   a. Their roles in the processes.   
   b. The role of the POCD in their board’s mission and deliberations.
   c. Their roles as representatives of the Town– both in their decisions and their 
interactions with applicants and the public.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: BOS has adopted a goal relative to POCD Implementation and has held a 
Superboard meeting advising all commission chairs of their responsibliites under the POCD.

n/a Yes Town BOS, PZC, PIC

B ED56 Have appropriate professional staff in house, or expertise on-call (paid for by the Town) 
capable of providing basic review of land use applications and responding to basic technical 
questions in house.
   a. It is an undue burden to applicants (especially to small business and individual 
residents) to require them to pay for these services to be provided to the Town for 
commonly necessary reviews and questions.  
   b. It also may compromise the representation of the public’s interests to allow 
applications to be approved without these technical reviews where appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Line item funding has been made available for these reviews. Qualified in-
house staff has also taken on responsibility of conducting technical application reviews.

S Yes BOS BOF, EDA, PZC, Town, CoC

13-Jun-2016 Page 35 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED57 Consolidate land use boards only after adopting standards and practices that improve the 
efficiency of internal and external processes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: OSPAC consolidated into Conservation Commission; OS objectives were not 
abandoned.

P Yes BOS EDA, PZC, Town, CoC

G ED58 Provide clear rules for the land use processes that lead to  predictable outcomes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Public Improvement Standards drafted and under review.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

B ED59 Adopt appropriate design guidelines for established business areas that reconcile context, 
economic growth, and diversification with clear standards that ensure the preservation and 
enhancement of the Town’s and surrounding area’s character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

A ED60 Identify a number of business uses to be permitted as of right in given zones/established 
business areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: New uses are allowed by ZP (staff approval) instead of public hearings in 
front of the Commission.

S Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

A ED61 Empower our professional staff to make more land use decisions, including approvals, 
administratively to improve the effectiveness of the processes and reduce the burden on 
the volunteer boards.  This would also allow the boards to better focus on policy and more 
overriding site development issues appropriate for such boards.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No change from 2015 report comments.

P No PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

13-Jun-2016 Page 36 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED62 Have zoning designations follow property lines as much as possible; and remove areas of 
ambiguity.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Done; change to Status to S.

S Yes PZC Town

B ED63 Establish clear standards for the mutual buffering of business and residential properties to 
reduce negotiations of this from the process.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Landscaping standards adopted to require buffering for both residential and 
commercial encroachments.

S Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST

O ED64 Identify areas of inefficiency in the land use processes and guide recommendations for 
changes and goals that reduce the timeframes associated with the processes without 
diluting the effectiveness or value of the processes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Some areas identified and addressed in Zoning Reg rewrite.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST, 
RES

G ED65 Improve the consistency and claity of direction given to land use applicants.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Numerous applications and forms have been reviewed and updated and 
additional reviews and updates continue.

n/a Yes Town EDA, PZC, BOS, CoC, MST

A ED66 Provide a concierge service to applicants to assist in applicant's  understanding and 
navigation of the processes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on possible POCD update.

D No EDA PZC, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 37 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED67 Provide a rudimentary user's guide to the land use process.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: An introductory guide was posted on the website in 2015. In 2016, it is being 
distributed to land use commission's for review and update, and to increase its 
comprehensiveness.

P Yes Town EDA, PZC, BOS, CoC, MST

A ED68 For all but the most basic applications, recommend a joint preliminary project review 
meeting between the applicant and staff to identify requirments and potential areas of 
concern.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Land Use Staff routinely conduct pre-application meetings with potential 
appplicants and conducts applciation reviews at monthly PD-DPW-LU-PR meeting. A formal 
project review meeting has not yet been established.

P Yes Town PZC, IWWA

G ED69 Protect areas designated for commercial and industrial use from encroachment to their 
permitted and intended uses from nearby residential development and associated 
‘sensibility creep’.
   a. Provide appropriate transition uses where possible.
   b. Land use board decisions should respect such use designations and reflect the 
principles of this POCD with regards to these uses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No applications submitted to address this.

n/a No PZC BOS, EDA, Town, Res

A ED70 Allow the use of open space to provide transitions between uses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No actions in 2015-2016.

NI n/a PZC Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 38 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED71 Evaluate and include creative ways to reduce parking requirements and encourage shared 
parking and access between adjacent parcels.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Parking regulations improved in 2014 Zoning. Additional measures under 
review in Design Regulation Project. Still additional work to be done.

P Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST, PO

B ED72 Revise the regulations to encourage/require business areas to be more pedestrian and bike 
friendly.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: 2014 Zoning includes specific standards for bicycle and pedestrian 
accomodations. Under conisderation to some extent in Design Regulation project. 
Additional work necessary to meet intent of this measure.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

A ED73 Work cooperatively with the Chamber and local sign shops to create signage regulations 
that allow businesses to be readily identifiable but minimizes negatives to aesthetics.  
(Review the coordinated signage theme regulations developed for The Shoppes at 
Farmington Valley as starting point for implementation elsewhere in town or town-wide.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Additional work with Collinsville Merchant's group to develop Model 
Temporary Signage underway.  Additional work necessary to meet full intent of this 
measure.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

13-Jun-2016 Page 39 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O ED74 Establish a culture of sound, consistent, and unified decision making: 
   a. Focus board and other land use decisions to be non-arbitrary and made in the best 
interests of the Town as a whole (within the parameters and purview that the subject 
board operates under).
   b. Hold regular joint meetings, and other communication opportunities, of the various 
land use boards to educate each other on their respective roles and procedures and to 
discuss and find consensus on priorities, policy issues, and the POCD; with the added goal 
of improving communication and interaction between the boards.
   c. Consider limits on the number of consecutive years any one individual can serve as 
Chairperson.
   d. Consider term limits in general.
   e. Consider [non-voting] cross membership on boards where consistency between the 
boards is important.  
   f. Encourage board members periodically move to a different board to increase cross-
board knowledge and understanding, and to keep board perspectives fresh and renewed. 
   g. Set standards for board member attendance and participation in training opportunities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Subsection b underway with initiation of Superboard Meetings and 
increasing communications between boards.

n/a Yes BOS PZC, CC, Town

G R1 Encourage designs (where appropriate) for new buildings within established 
neighborhoods that are appropriate and similar to the character of the surrounding 
neighborhood.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No PZC BOS, Town

G R2 Encourage new development (where appropriate) to reflect and enhance each area's 
historic and cultural qualities through distinct building design that is responsive to the 
existing context of the area, and that are in keeping with the community character 
objectives of this Plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No PZC BOS, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 40 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G R3 Support Town maintenance and capital improvement programs that maintain the public 
spaces and facilities in residential neighborhoods that befit or enhance the neighborhood.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

n/a Yes BOS PMBC, PW, PZC, Town

G R4 Avoid, to the extent possible, any alteration or destruction of points of reference (such as 
prominent natural features or historic buildings), focal points, and place names important 
to an area's identity when alterations or development occur in or near residential areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-May-2016: No comment.

n/a n/a CC PZC, Town, HDC

G R5 Maintain Canton as a predominantly low density single family owner occupied community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No PZC BOS, Town

G R6 Promote “naturally occurring affordable housing” units (which may not be deed restricted, 
but which meet the market criteria for purchase or rent by low and moderate income 
families).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No PZC BOS, Town

A R7 Revise the zoning regulations to allow two-unit structures (accessory apartments, two-
family houses, duplex townhouses), with appropriate character preserving caveats, by right 
in all new residential developments
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No actions in 2015-2016.

P No PZC Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 41 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A R8 Revise the zoning regulations to allow, by right, conversion of existing buildings to two-
family housing or accessory apartments,  with appropriate character preserving caveats, in 
village centers, existing (non-conforming) and proposed mixed use areas, and other 
appropriate locations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No plans at this time to continue progress beyond what was achieved in 
2015.

H No PZC Town

B R9 Revise zoning regulations to create one or more zones that allow for apartment/ 
condominium development.  Consider limiting the number of units per building and other 
character-related caveats where appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC Town

G R10 Maintain a strong, diverse housing balance, increasing the more moderately price housing 
options while maintaining the number of detached single family housing units at above 
65% of the total housing stock.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No PZC BOS, Town

A R11 Identify and explore regulations for higher density areas suitable for mixed-income and 
mixed-use development with significant control (to be retained by the town) over the 
location, amount, type and design of such housing and associated development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Incorporated into Draft Form Based Code, which is under review by the PZC.

P Yes Town PZC, BOS

A R12 Revise the zoning regulations to create mixed-use zones in village centers and most (or all) 
non-industrial commercial areas.  Such mixed-use zones should allow as of right mixed 
commercial and residential uses within individual buildings.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 42 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B R13 Allow multi-family residential structures as of right in mixed-use zones.  Maximum unit per 
building requirements, set as appropriate for the subject area, should be considered.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC.

P Yes PZC Town

B R14 Consider the creation of mixed-use ‘blending’ zones, zones where the types and densities 
of commercial use and residential development allowed are less intense than a normal 
mixed-use zone, to transition from commercial areas to lower density residential areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Believe this has materialized as Detached Building Form Standard in Draft 
Form Based Code.

P Yes PZC Town

B R15 Facilitate neighborhood commercial node development through the permitting of small 
scale neighborhood friendly retail uses near key intersections in established (or proposed) 
residential areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Was not incorporated into Design Regulation project; additional/separate 
initiative will be necessary.

D No PZC Town

B R16 Revise applicable regulations to strongly encourage conservation subdivision development 
utilizing density based zoning principals for all new residential subdivisions north of State 
Route 44.  The open space created should be consistent with the open space and natural 
resource conservation priorities of the Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs include provisions for new conservation subdivision 
incorporating innovative considerations and density bonuses.  Subdivision Reg rewrite is 
expected to further expand and implement these prinicples.

P Yes PZC CC, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 43 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G R17 Encourage residential development that promotes a sense of neighborhood and 
community, and that provides visual interest and distinctive character and identity to the 
Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No PZC CC, Town

G R18 Encourage infill and reuse residential development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No PZC Town

B R19 Revise applicable regulations to encourage connecting through streets and discourage cul-
de-sacs.  Consider requiring all cul-de-sacs to be private roads.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Under review in 2015-2016 Subdivision Rewrite project.

P Yes PZC Town

B R20 Consider expanding the current limitation of 2 lots on a single driveway, with appropriate 
safety and emergency response requirements.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Under review in 2015-2016 Subdivision Rewrite project.

P Yes PZC Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 44 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B R21 Insure that design standards:
   a. incorporate appropriate provisions to reduce impacts, such as Low Impact 
Development (LID).
   b. use minimum appropriate street widths and other techniques to minimize the 
maintenance burden on the Town.
   c. promote an environmentally appropriate layout (with respect to such things as 
topography, wetlands and watercourses, soil types, steep slopes, and the conservation of 
other natural resource priorities of the town).
   d. incorporate the use of multi-property septic systems in common areas and open space, 
where appropriate, and keeping in mind that the Town's WPCA becomes responsible for 
ensuring the operation and maintenance of such systems.
   e. encourage resource efficient (a.k.a. 'green') design.  (Consider a density bonus.)
   f. encourage using architectural features, building materials, landscaping material and 
building scale that are representative of the character of the area, and yet provide a 
distinctive and varied architectural landscape.
   G. provide pedestrian connectivity between neighborhoods and destination points 
(including but not limited to parks, schools, transit stops and other neighborhood amenities 
wherever possible).
   H. increase opportunities for people to interact, both within the neighborhood and within 
existing or future adjacent neighborhoods.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Under review in 2015-2016 Subdivision Rewrite project.

P Yes PZC Town

O F1 Continue to use the Capital Project Study Committee’s approach and criteria to allocate 
funding for capital projects essential to existing municipal operations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: The CIP Committee is conducting an analysis on an on-going basis.

n/a Yes BOS PMBC, BOF, Town

O F2 Continue to pursue the areas identified by the 2012 Capital Projects Study Committee for 
improvement as funding allows.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Everything has been funded with the exception of the Public Works Facility.

n/a Yes BOS PMBC, BOF, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 45 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O F3 Properly maintain our current facilities.
   a. Consider capital replacement planning as a tool to support proper maintenance of 
existing  facilities.
   b. Make appropriate funding available to keep maintenance and rehabilitation reasonably 
up-to-date.
   c. Improve the energy-efficiency of town-owned facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Approved Energy Audit is underway 2015-2016.

n/a Yes BOS BOF, PMBC, Town, PW

C F4 Improve accessibility of public buildings to meet ADA requirements (notably, the 
Community/Senior Center and the Town Hall.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Town has moved elections to the High School and Community Center to 
provide for better access.

P Yes BOS BOF, PMBC, PW, SS, Town, PZC

G F5 Address the need for affordable housing, ideally in the vicinity of, and considering the 
development of, complimentary supporting transportation options.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Under consideration in Design Regulations.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, SS, Town

O F6 Increase social services for residents in need.
   a. Encourage and promote expanding health and social service availability and options to 
meet the needs of an aging population.
   b. Support community services such as the Canton Food Bank and Energy Assistance 
Program.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: SS is initiating a Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, and has 
expanded wellness, prevetion and substance abuse, as well as LGBT programs, workshops 
and services.

n/a Yes SS BOS, BOF

13-Jun-2016 Page 46 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B F7 Provide transportation option for seniors.
   a. Increase access to and options for affordable transportation services.
   b. Consider expanding the existing Dial-A-Ride service (hours and/or number of vehicles) 
to accommodate more residents.
   c. Explore Transportation Management Association (TMA) services between high density 
residential developments to increase access to services.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: 2016-2017 request submitted for expansion of Dial-a-Ride transportation. 
New bus provided in FY 15-16.

P Yes SS BOS, BOF, PO

O F8 Enhance the abilities of Senior and Social Services as resources allow:
   a. To improve efficiency and communications of social services through the development 
of a database to track and manage clients.
   b. To help address the changing needs of an aging population, within the scope of the 
department.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Town budgeted for increased Dial-a-Ride availability.

n/a Yes BOS BOF, SS

B F9 Relocate the garage to a site away from the Farmington River.  
   a. Acquire land and construct a facility adequate to house the Public Works Department.
   b. Repurpose the existing site for public recreation and river access, which are identified 
open space, natural resource and community character goals in this plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Acquisition of land unsuccessful. Redevelopment of existing site being 
explored. Recreational opportunities being considered as part of on-site redevelopment.

U Yes BOS PMBC, BOF, PW, PZC, RES

G F10 Continue to look for ways to enhance service to residents at the Transfer Station.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: New enclosed oil and antifreeze shed installed, 2016.  New lighting installed 
to improve safety and accessiblity.

n/a Yes PW BOS, BOF

13-Jun-2016 Page 47 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A F11 Develop a facilities management plan to program funds for the improvement of town 
facilities (not including those under the BOE) based on cost effectiveness and priority.  
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Building Maintenance Plan (BPM) adopted. Annual progress continues using 
BMP for budgeting and scheduling replacements.

S Yes PW BOS, BOF, Town, Fire, EMS

O F12 Continue to use, and support funding of, the town’s pavement management system.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: 3.8 million dollars in work as of January 2016; 8.5 million dollars to date.

n/a Yes PW BOS, BOF, Town

B F13 Perform a needs assessment of the town emergency shelter and make improvements as 
necessary with specific attention paid to lack of all-weather showers, and ADA accessibly of 
entrances and restrooms.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

NI No PW BOS, BOF, PMBC, PD, Town, 
Fire, EMS, SS

O F14 Bike safety: ensure the police department has adequate resources and equipment to 
provide support to increased traffic on the Rail Trail.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Assist with the May 2016 Bike/Walk to School, preparing bike safety 
program for youths, and Spring 2016 Enforcement and Distracted Driving program to 
increase safety for all users.

n/a Yes PD BOS, BOF

C F15 Support funding opportunities to study Nepaug Reservoir Dam failure scenarios and create 
appropriate management plans.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a BOS EMS, Fire, PD, BOF, WPCA, 
CTDOT, CRCOG, RES, Other

13-Jun-2016 Page 48 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B F16 Cooperative effort [between Fire, EMS, and Town agencies and staff] to develop new 
regulatory standards including:
   a. access standards for single family homes (ability to accommodate modern fire 
apparatus);
   b. access standards for commercial and large developments (preference for more than 
one point of access);
   c. the provision of fire protection and safety measures in all areas where new 
development is proposed;
   d. standards/specifications for the design/location of emergency water supplies (i.e. 
cisterns, fire ponds, dry hydrants, etc.);
   e. encourage looped road systems (and looped hydrant systems as opposed to rear lots, 
dead ends and cul-de-sacs;
   f. require the creation of associations or common interest ownership communities to 
maintain fire protection and safety measures.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: A portion of this is being incorporated into Public Improvements Standards 
and Subdivision standards presently being drafted and other have been incorporated into 
Zoning.

P Yes Town PZC, PD, Fire, EMS

B F17 Review the adequacy of existing fire facilities as part of a facilities management plan (see 
previous page), with special consideration to the:
   a. potential investments and coordination required on privately and publicly owned 
property.
   b. consolidation of town Fire Departments to one centralized organization  (i.e. 
consolidation of Canton and Collinsville Stations).
   c. ability to meet space needs for current and future apparatus;
   d. availability of equipment, ability of and type of  equipment to meet increasing 
response demand.
   e. ability to meet ADA, OSHA and other requirements;
   f. lack of available manpower.
   g. location and availability of emergency water storage facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Study Committee formed for a 24-month process; first meeting in February 
2016. Committee is researching the necessary requirements to meet these measures. 
$25,000 previously allocated not used.

P Yes Fire BOS, BOF, PW, EMS 

13-Jun-2016 Page 49 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B F18 Adequacy and use of existing facilities and operational needs to be reviewed as part of a 
facilities management plan, with special consideration to:
   a. Spatial needs – consider the expansion or redesign of existing spaces to meet projected 
needs as appropriate.
   b. Parking – look to maximize parking on site and consider the possibility of overflow 
parking areas.
   c. Expanding service options for teenagers.
   d. Update technological capabilties to meet increasing demands and expectations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
10-Jun-2015: Teen librarian hired; plan being developed to review existing space and 
increase use, efficiency, and services; additional programming is being explored; O.S. for all 
computers has been upgraded; wifi & network capacity has been increased.

P Yes LBT BOS, BOF, PW, Town

B F19 Explore opportunities to expand community use of the privately owned fields on Canton 
Springs and Powder Mill Roads.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: No comment.

NI No PRC BOS, Town

A F20 Develop a thorough Parks and Recreation Master Plan that inventories and evaluates the 
recreational opportunities of current available land (starting with town-owned land) for 
potential development of (with acquisition as necessary) additional recreational fields and 
expansion and management of existing recreational facilities to meet the growing demand.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: An RFP has been drafted with an anticipated release of 2016.

P Yes PRC BOS, BOF, PW, Town

A F21 Develop a comprehensive plan for the renovation or replacement of Mills Pond Pool.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for update.

P No PRC BOS, BOF, PW, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 50 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B F22 Pursue funding and plan for the development of a Lawton Road recreational facility.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: The Town submitted a STEAP application to obtain partial funding for this 
project.

P Yes Town PRC, BOS, BOF, PW

B F23 Recapture the riverfront presently occupied by the DPW Garage to increase public access 
and recreation.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on update of POCD.

D Yes BOS BOF, PRC, PMBC, PZC, IWWA, 
WPCA, Town, FRWC, RES

C F24 Extend the Farmington River Trail to complete Phase IV and the trails connection to 
Simsbury (creating a unique 28 mile recreational loop) in support of the priorities of this 
plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

P Yes Town BOS, BOF, PZC, PRC, CRCOG

G F25 Create additional public access to, along, and within town-owned natural resource areas, as 
appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Possible access to Farmington River being incorporated into Highway Garage.

n/a Yes CC BOS, BOF, PW, PRC, Town

A F26 Investigate and implement improvements to tighten security at each school building.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No update provided.

P Yes BOE PD

13-Jun-2016 Page 51 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

C F27 Address ADA accessibility issues at Canton Middle/High School through improvements such 
as: the renovation of the nurse’s office and health room; the creation of a handicapped 
accessible entrance to the auditorium; the installation of walkways to fields not currently 
handicapped accessible; and the renovation of the locker room showers and toilet facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No update provided.

D Yes BOE BOF

A F28 Replace the windows in the older section of Canton Middle School.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No update provided.

P Yes BOE BOF

A F29 Renovate the Canton High School cafeteria serving line to replace the locked gate that is 
currently in place.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No update provided.

D Yes BOE

A F30 Repair cracked sidewalks at Cherry Brook Primary School.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No update provided.

NI n/a BOE BOS, PW

A F31 Address ADA accessibility issues at Canton Inermediate School through improvements such 
as the replacement of door handle hardware and the installation of a handicapped 
accessible ramp at the Dyer Avenue door entrance and walkway.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No update provided.

P Yes BOE

O F32 Work collaboratively with Town staff to make improvements to all athletic fields.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: On-going progress occurs.

n/a Yes Town BOE, PW, PRC

13-Jun-2016 Page 52 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O F33 Work collaboratively with Town staff to pursue Safe Routes to School program initiatives.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: SRTS program ongoing. Spring 2016 event anticipated.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PD, RES

B F34 Make improvements to the Town Hall to address critical space needs and improve 
customer accessibility and directional signage.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Added new lights and signage to improve ADA access to Town Hall.

P Yes PW BOS, BOF, PMBC, Town

C F35 Update Town Hall with energy efficient mechanical systems.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Audit is underway and recommended energy upgrades were submitted to 
BOS in 2016.

P Yes EC BOS, BOF, PW, Town

G F36 Improve the energy-efficiency of town-owned facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Additional energy controls being evaluated in Energy Audit.

n/a Yes PW BOS, BOF, Town

B F37 Develop and implement an energy reduction/energy efficiency plan to identify where 
opportunities exist to reduce energy consumption.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Municipal audit is underway with an anticipated completion date of July 
2016. BOE audit has an anticipated completion date of September 2016.

P Yes EC BOS, PW, Town

C F38 Assess and remove street lights that are not warranted.  Consider replacing street lights 
with energy efficient full cut off fixtures.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Reviewing possible purchase of LED Lights. Existing light list inventory being 
developed.

D Yes PW Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 53 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

C F39 Consider the use of motion detectors at Town facilities where appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Included in the current energy audit being conducted.

D Yes PW BOS, Town

O F40 Seek funding for solar panels and electric vehicle charging stations on Town property.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Feasibility of solar panels being explored at town parks.

n/a Yes BOS PW, EC, Town

O F41 Continue to pursue funding for and to promote the reuse of existing Collinsville 
hydroelectric infrastructure and impoundments.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Discussion with developer, and state and federal government underway 
spring 2016.

n/a Yes BOS PW, EC,  Town

O F42 Reduce/eliminate sources of light pollution at Town facilities where practical.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Updated walkway lighting at rear of Town Hall to full cut-off illuminaires.

n/a Yes PW BOS, Town

A F43 Improve the town web page and consider other online methods to improve customer 
service and reduce vehicle trips to town facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Website updated 2015-2016 with First Selectman's Corner and Historic 
Walking and Driving Tours, Cross-posting done via email blast (QNotify), Facebook and 
Twitter.

P Yes Town

O F44 Monitor population growth to anticipate increased infrastructure and service demands.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Anticipated population growth is being reviewed as part of traffic 
consideration on Route 44, as well as with infrastructure needs in determining adequacy of 
size of possible future DPW facilities.

n/a Yes Town BOS

13-Jun-2016 Page 54 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G F45 Encourage volunteer efforts and participation in both public and private community 
services.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Volunteer Fair held in January 2016 to promote volunteerism.

n/a Yes BOS Town

O F46 Improve and enhance the Geographic Information System (GIS).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: GIS Steering Committee has met several times, conducted interviews and is 
in the process of hiring a new consultant firm to improve the GIS website and services to 
town staff and public.

n/a Yes Town BOS

O T1 Continue to implement and expand established GIS-based infrastructure asset 
management systems and techniques.
   a. Existing pavement management system.
   b. New/expanded systems for sidewalks, drainage, and bridges.
   c. Create GIS inventories of facilities.
   d. Inspect the facilities to get detail and condition data.
   e. Update systems as work is done.
   f. Establish a reasonable inspection cycle to provide quality control for deterioration 
assumptions and to update facility data.
   g. Use the systems’ data and tools, in conjunction with new and best available 
technology, to recommend and update maintenance and rehabilitation tasks, schedules 
and funding needs.
   h. Periodically provide updated reports to BOS and BOF regarding status of infrastructure 
condition and funding requirements to maintain/reach adequate condition levels.
   i. Ensure that adequate resources are available to keep these tasks -- for assets whose 
value exceeds $125 million -- current.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Use of Roadmanager software implemented; to be integrated with GIS.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PW

13-Jun-2016 Page 55 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O T2 Make maintenance tasks and repairs timely.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Continuing to track through School Dude Work Order software; response 
time has increased through use of software.

n/a Yes PW BOS, BOF, Town

O T3 Adequately maintain the full breadth of transportation facilities, including drainage, 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities, signage, maintenance and transit equipment and facilities, 
and roadside areas for which the Town is responsible.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: 3.8 million dollars in roadwork conducted. Substanial funding for road 
maintenance and repairs included and proposed in Town budgets, with appropriate 
activities being undertaken by PW.

n/a Yes PW BOS, BOF, Town

O T4 Provide adequate funding and personnel to maintain the transportation infrastructure in a 
condition that is befitting of and cost-effective for the Town;  keeping in mind that every 
year that resources are not sufficient, the future costs potentially will rise much faster than 
the time value of the money not spent.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: Town continues to fund pavement management through the CIP at 
$600,000. The CIP Committee is reviewing the need for additional bonding to support 
pavement management.

n/a Yes BOS BOF, PW, Town

O T5 Address major project initiatives as funding availability and prudent debt management 
allows.  Continue to seek funding from outside sources such as federal and state grant 
programs.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Pavement Management and increased contributions to CIP.

n/a Yes BOS BOF, PW, Town

O T6 Responsibly plan for future transportation infrastructure and service needs.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Updating of Town Public Improvement Standards is underway.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PW

13-Jun-2016 Page 56 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A T7 Review, and revise as necessary, the Town’s policies and procedures regarding non-Town 
street excavations to best protect the condition and ride of the roads.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

P Yes Town PW, PD

B T8 Take steps to help ensure that new Town roads are constructed to adequate and 
designated design standards.
   a. When the Town accepts a road that is not constructed to standards, it becomes a 
maintenance burden for the Town much more rapidly; and may require expensive 
rehabilitation measures much sooner.
   b. This is not a straight-forward issue for a relatively small town with limited personnel 
resources.  Effective monitoring of road construction requires significant and timely 
observation of the construction and, in many cases, appropriate testing of materials used.  
The level of observation may vary depending upon the developer/contractor involved.  
   c. Town staff, the BOS, the BOF, and legal counsel should all be involved in developing the 
protocols.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

P Yes Town BOS, BOF, PW, PZC

O T9 Identify and close sidewalk gaps and provide extensions in targeted (i.e. potentially high or 
important pedestrian use) locations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Existing sidewalks have been mapped and in the process of being 
incorproated into a GIS layer. Some areas of known gaps have been submitted for possible 
Road Safety Audits.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PW, PD

13-Jun-2016 Page 57 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B T10 Create and adopt a Complete Streets Policy and Plan for the Town.
   a. Include striping, signage, design standards, and traffic calming, in addition to more 
standard features, as part of the development and implementation of this plan.
   b. Include improved access to and facilities at Town-owned   facilities used by the public  
as part of the development/ implementation of this plan.
   c. Require new development to appropriately accommodate non-automotive 
transportation options.  (This would include installing bike racks at commercial and mixed-
use developments, proper consideration of bicycle and pedestrian routes into and within 
developments, connectivity with adjacent properties, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Development of a formal policy and plan has not yet been initiated.  
Subsection c. is now a standard requirement under Zoning.

D Yes BOS Town, PW, PMBC, PZC, PD

O T11 Improve bicycle and pedestrian connectivity.
   a. Between existing cul-de-sac developments – in some cases dedicated rights-of-way or 
open space connections exist between developments where bike/ped pathways could be 
developed to connect the developments and create extended neighborhoods.  In such 
cases, the Town should pursue installing such pathways.
   b. Identified or dedicated bicycle and pedestrian routes should be created between the 
Farmington River Trail and 1) the Canton Village area, and 2) the Mills Pond recreation area 
via a more direct route than currently exists.
   c. The Town should pursue developing a dedicated bicycle route between the Farmington 
River Trail and The Shoppes at Farmington Valley site.
   d. The Town should pursue developing a dedicated pedestrian route  between The 
Shoppes and the Simsbury/Avon commercial areas along Route 44.
   e. The Town should pursue developing bicycle connections/ dedicated routes to 
Simsbury, Avon, New Hartford, Barkhamsted, and Granby.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Subsection e. requested to be reviewed as part of a Road Safety Audit 
request to the CTDOT in 2016.

n/a Yes BOS Town, PW, PZC, PD, CTDOT

13-Jun-2016 Page 58 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O T12 Look for opportunities to improve safety for pedestrians:
   a. Signage and other visible or physical improvements at crosswalks.
   b. Separation between roadways and sidewalks on busy roadways where posted travel 
speeds are greater than 30 miles per hour.
   c. Traffic calming.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Four applications were submitted for Road Safety Audits to evaluate 4 areas 
of town for roadway safety improvements.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PD, PW, CTDOT, 
CRCOG

G T13 Support public transportation options and stay mindful of opportunities to expand those 
options.
   a. Canton has a number of relatively discrete commercial nodes.  Opportunities may arise 
in the future to connect those nodes via some form of public transit.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: As part of a Transportation Orientated Development Grant to OPM and 
separate Road Safety Audit request to DOT the possible connection of transit to the village 
center of Collinsville would be explored.

n/a Yes BOS Town, CTDOT, CRCOG, CoC

G T14 Encourage the extension of the CT Fastrak feeder system to Canton. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on update of POCD.

n/a n/a BOS Town, CTDOT, CRCOG, CoC

B T15 Make context sensitive traffic solutions a priority in village areas.  Work with the DOT to get 
their buy-in with respect to state routes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Routinely exercised.

P Yes Town BOS, BOF, PZC, PW, CTDOT, 
CRCOG, CoC

13-Jun-2016 Page 59 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G T16 Encourage/promote/incentivize shared access drives and connected parking areas along 
Route 44 and other State Routes (in commercial areas).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: 2014 zoning allows for shared parking across interconnected parcels. Design 
Regulations under review provide similar considerations.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, EDA, Town, CTDOT, CoC

G T17 Look for opportunities for traffic calming measures along Route 44:
   a) Medians.
   b) Streetscape improvements.
   c) Moving buildings closer to the roadway as new development or redevelopment occurs.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Incorporated into Draft Form Based Code, which is under review by the PZC. 
Road Safety Audits requested for three areas of Route 44.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PZC, PD, CTDOT, 
CRCOG, CoC, PO

C T18 Work with CTDOT for intersection improvements at Route 44 and Dowd Avenue (Route 
565).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Area submitted to CT DOT for a Road Safety Audit as the communities top 
priority area for review and improvement.

P Yes Town BOS, BOF, PD,  CTDOT

C T19 Work with CTDOT for improvements to improve access at Route 44 and Colonial 
Road/entrance to Canton Gateway Office Park.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: No action in FY 2015-2016.

NI n/a Town BOS, BOF, PD, CTDOT

B T20 Develop an access management plan for Route 44.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Some consideration on access management has been explored and 
incorporated into Draft Form Based Code.  Road Safety Audits from CTDOT requested.  
Discsusions with proprty owner has resulted in a plan to connect 153-181 Albany Turnpike.

P Yes Town BOS, PZC, PD, CTDOT, CRCOG, 
CoC, PO

13-Jun-2016 Page 60 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A T21 Install traffic signal at Bridge Street/Main Street intersection in Collinsville.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

P Yes Town BOS, BOF, CTDOT

B T22 Pursue the Collinsville traffic calming concepts presented in Chapter 9 of the Strategic 
Component.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Possible incorporation as part of Responsible Growth Grant submitted to 
OPM in 2016, as well as Road Safety Audit request submitted to DOT in 2016.

P Yes BOS BOF, PD, Town, CRCOG, 
CTDOT, MST, CoC, PO

G T23 Look for opportunities to increase parking and streetscaping in Collinsville.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Meetings held with PD-DPW-LU, concept parking plan being developed for 
Collinsville to increase parking inventory, and Grant application submitted to continue 
Collinsville Streetscsape improvements.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PZC, EDA, MST, CoC

B T24 Narrow the pavement or otherwise provide visual cues as to travel lanes vs. parking on 
Center Street just north of Main Street.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Development of Collinsville Parking Plan underway with PD, PW and LU.

D Yes PW BOS, BOF, PD, Town, PO

O T25 Consider the use of traffic calming measures where appropriate.  Priority locations include:
   a. Lawton Road and Washburn Road.
   b. River Road near Farmington River Trail crossing.
   c. Maple Avenue.
   d. Cherry Brook Road near Canton Center.
   e. Other locations where travel speeds are an issue.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Items a, b, c, and d (Harts Corner) were submitted for possible Road Safety 
Audits by CT DOT consultant team.

n/a Yes Town BOS, BOF, PD, PW, CTDOT

13-Jun-2016 Page 61 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G T26 Consider the total life-cycle costs and weigh those costs against the overall benefit to the 
community when evaluating proposed initiatives.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
04-May-2016: The CIP Committee analyzes capital projects, including long-range costs and 
need.

n/a Yes BOS PZC, PW, Town

O T27 Maintain an up-to-date plan for the maintenance and mangement of infrastructure.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Asset Management System continued to be used for pavement.

n/a Yes PW BOS, BOF, Town

G T28 Minimize pavement widths on new or reconstructed roads.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Discussed on a case by case basis with road reconstruction. In some 
instances pavement is either reduced or widenend. In some intsances where it is widened 
lanes are striped narrowly (down to 9.5 feet) for traffic calming and safety.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, PW, Town

B T29 Encourage development techniques and designs that reduce roadway lengths, such as 
cluster residential development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: 2014 Zoning provides incentives for clustering and reduced road lengths.  
Under review in 2015-2016 Subdivision Rewrite project.

P Yes PZC BOS, Town

O U1 Continue the development of the Collinsville Hydroelectric Project
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: See F41.

n/a Yes BOS PW, Town

G U2 Continue to encourage and support initiatives, such as SolarizeCanton and C-PACE, that 
promote the use of renewable energy solutions, within the community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

n/a Yes BOS EC, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 62 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B U3 Consider zoning incentives for significant use of renewable energy, such as solar or 
geothermal, in new developments. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: 2014 Zoning addresses renewable energy options; however; incentives are 
not proivded for with the exception that roof mounted solar arrays do not require separate 
permits.

NI n/a PZC BOS, EC, Town

O U4 Continue to monitor and evaluate renewable energy solutions for municipal facilities.  
Consider implementing solutions where the total life-cycle fiscal impacts are positive or 
where there are minimal negative tax implications.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Solar panels being reviewed for possible use at town facilities.

n/a Yes PW BOS, BOF, EC, Town

G U5 Encourage new technologies and applications which may further the reliability and 
sustainability of utility supply and services, and their implementation within Canton where 
feasible and practical, taking into consideration potential negative impacts.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

n/a Yes Town BOS, EC, PZC, UTIL

G U6 Work with adjacent Towns and the State on efforts to protect groundwater quality.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Staff reached out to CT DEEP Aquifer Agent who conduted on-site staff 
training in Canton. Canton staff conducted multiple inspections of regulated facilites in 
Aquifer Area 2015-2016.

n/a Yes Town BOS, DEEP, CTDPH, FVHD

G U7 Work with the State and the private sector on efforts to provide more complete cell service 
throughout the community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: No comment.

n/a No Town BOS, DEEP, UTIL

13-Jun-2016 Page 63 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O U8 Periodically monitor and encourage utility providers and their regulatory agencies:
   a. To properly maintain utility systems and update facilities plans relevant to Canton.
   b. To use practices and support programs that help sustain and buffer utility supply 
resources and reduce negative impacts.
   c. To improve service to areas where existing service is significantly below average levels 
for served areas of town.
   d. To properly consider the impacts of their decisions on communities such as Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Town staff and Senator Witkos held a meeting with representatives of all 
utility providers to discuss these. Town staff is working with Canton Chamber of Commerce 
and utility interest, as well as a service area expansion survey.

n/a Yes Town BOS, DEEP, UTIL

O U9 Work with the Canton WPCA, authorities serving adjacent towns, land owners, and 
developers to extend public sanitary sewer service to all parcels in commercial zones, 
opportunity locations and potential mixed use sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: Marked for discussion on update of POCD.

n/a Yes BOS WPCA, BOF, PZC, PIC, CoC, PO

B U10 BOS and EDA to review the connection policies and fees and system extension/assessment 
policies of the WPCA for consistency with the goals and objectives of this Plan; and to 
promote coordination between the goals and objectives of this POCD and the goals and 
objectives of the WPCA.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Jun-2016: No comment.

S Yes BOS WPCA, EDA, PZC, PIC, CoC, RES

A U11 Map and identify the extent of the service area for the Town’s wastewater treatment 
facility (i.e. create sewer avoidance areas) to inhibit the expansion of more intense 
development into areas intended for lower density housing.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: WPCA Sewershed map updated, inclusive of expanded area in East 
Gateway.  Incorporated into GIS.

S Yes PZC WPCA, Town

13-Jun-2016 Page 64 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B U12 Revise regulations and take other steps as necessary to allow for appropriately designed 
community sub-surface wastewater disposal systems in open space areas for conservation 
subdivisions.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: While anticipated to be incorporated into Subdivision Rewrite, not refernced 
in current draft.

D No PZC WPCA, BOS, Town, DEEP, 
CTDPH, FVHD

G U13 Monitor developments in technology, regulations, and regulatory trends, for alternative 
means of safe wastewater disposal for selective use for potential future developments.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
13-Jun-2015: Investments made in technology to improve quality of effluent from 
treatment facility and reduce orders.

n/a Yes Town WPCA, PZC

G U14 Encourage the expansion of natural gas distribution in Canton to provide more residents 
with additional options for heating and cooking energy.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-May-2016: Staff has met with representatives of the Gas company who are reviewing 
customer potential.  Expansion on Harrington Court being considered. Chamber is 
conducting a survey of Route 44 owners/business to gauge interest for utility companies

n/a Yes BOS UTIL, DEEP

O U15 Evaluate and maximize energy efficiency in municipal facilities and operations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Energy audit underway 2015-2016.

n/a Yes PW BOS, BOF, Town

G U16 Stay informed on best management practices and techniques that may further the 
objectives and goals of this chapter.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
05-May-2016: Staff continues to monitor new developments in management areas.

n/a Yes Town PW

13-Jun-2016 Page 65 of 65Status Report - Full 6-13-16


	Working Notes
	File #448; Apln #1601
	File #447; Apln #1606
	File #336; Apln #1610
	File #379
	File #244; Apln #1609
	6-15-16 Draft Minutes
	76 Simonds Avenue Field Lighting
	POCD

